Swindon Borough Council

Health and Wellbeing Board
Wednesday, 11 December 2019

Committee Room 6, Civic Offices

At 2.00 p.m.

Contact Officers:
Shaun Banks (Committee Officer), 07980 752047, shanks@swindon.gov.uk

Swindon Borough Council can be contacted at the Civic Offices, Euclid Street,
Swindon, SN1 2JH (Telephone 01793 445500)

AGENDA

1. Apologies for Absence

2. Declarations of Interest
Members are reminded that at the start of the meeting they should declare any known
interests in any matter to be considered, and also during the meeting if it becomes
apparent that they have an interest in the matters being discussed.

3. Public Question Time
Please refer to the explanatory notes below.

4. Minutes (Pages 3 - 8)
To receive the minutes of the meeting held on 9" October 2019.

5. Local Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018/19 (Pages 9 - 74)
6. 2020 Homelessness Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (Pages 75 - 90)

7. 2019 Indices of Multiple Deprivation Joint Strategic Needs
(Report to follow)

8. BSW Mental Health Update
(Report to follow)

9. Joint Commissioning Group - Minutes for Information and Comment
(Pages 91 - 94)

Date of Despatch: 03 December 2019



Public Question Time - Swindon Borough Council remains committed to increasing
its accountability to the public and to promoting active citizenship. 15 minutes will be
allowed at the start of all Council meetings for questions to the Chair from the public
about the work of the Committee (except for confidential matters, and matters
relating to planning and licensing applications). We will give priority to those who
submit questions in writing at least two days before the meeting. Questions must be
relevant, clear, and concise. You may not use Public Question Time as an
opportunity to make speeches or statements.

Questions in writing should be sent to the Committee Officer whose contact details
appear on the agenda above, or to the Chief Legal Officer. We will publish it, along
with the answer, alongside the Minutes. The process associated with asking a public
question is set out in the “Public Question Time at Council Meetings Protocol and
Guidance” available from the Committee Officer named above or on the Council’s
Website at:
(http://ww5.swindon.gov.uk/moderngov/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13338&pat
h=0).

Access Arrangements - The venue is wheelchair accessible and an infrared
receiver hearing system is provided. If you have any special requirements to enable
you to attend the meeting, or would like to receive any of the pages contained in this
agenda in a larger print size, please contact the Committee Officer as soon as
possible prior to the date of the meeting.


http://ww5.swindon.gov.uk/moderngov/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13338&path=0
http://ww5.swindon.gov.uk/moderngov/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13338&path=0

Agenda ltem 4

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

WEDNESDAY, 9 OCTOBER 2019

PRESENT: Dr Sarah Bruen (Clinical Chair — Clinical Commissioning Group) in the
Chair, Councillor Brian Ford, David Haley Swindon Borough Council), Gill May (NHS
Swindon Clinical Commissioning Group), Nicki Millin (NHS Swindon Clinical
Commissioning Group) and Jo Orsorio (Voluntary Action Swindon).

Also in attendance were: Phillipa Lamb, Steve Kensington, Francis Mayes, Ayoola
Oyinloye, Martin Parker, Angela Plumber, Martin Parker Julie Walcot, and Kate
Yorke.

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Ray Ballman, David Renard,
Richard Hill (Voluntary Action Swindon), Keir Pritchard (Wiltshire Police) and Sam
Mowbray (Director of Performance, Organisational Improvement and
Communications) and Sue Wald (Corporate Director Adult Social Services).

17. Declarations of Interest

The Chair reminded Members of the need to declare any known interests in
any matters to be considered at the meeting. No declarations were made.

18. Public Question Time
No public questions were received during the meeting.
19. Minutes

Resolved — That the minutes of the meeting held on 10" July 2019, be
confirmed and signed as a correct record.

20. Better Care Fund 2019/20

The Director, Adult Social Services, submitted a report updating Members in respect
of the Better Care Fund Plan 2019/20 template which had been submitted to NHS
England. Francis Mayes and Cabinet Member for Adult Services introduced the
report and answered Members questions in respect of:

e The Plan which had received regional assurance on 13" October and had
been submitted to NHS England.

e The 5.3% uplift this year for social care which would be used to support work
on hospital discharge and pre-assessment packages to prevent hospital
admissions.

e The summary of Better Care Fund expenditure against approved schemes
the details of which were set out within the report and were available for
inspection online.

e The differences in reporting formats to the Board and NHS England.
e The ambitions for the Better Care Fund for the forthcoming year.

Resolved — That the report be noted.

Page 3



21.

NHS Long Term Plan and Five Year Operational Plan

Nikki Millin, Director of Strategy and Transformation, Clinical Commissioning Group,
made a presentation to the Board in respect of the B&NES Swindon and Wiltshire
(BSW) Long Term Plan 2019/20 — 2023/24 setting out:

The development of an Integrated Care System for the BSW.

An update on the agreement of the membership practices of the three BSW
CCGs to merge and of a combined Governing Body who voted in favour of
the merger and which would now be submitted to NHS England for approval
and subject to this being approved the merger would become effective from
1% April 2020.

That the Integrated Care Alliance for Swindon would continue to operate in its
current format.

The maturity matrix required by NHS England and how this would be
progressed following the proposed CCG merger.

Challenges identified by the plan including workforce recruitment, increasing
demand for social care, the funding of infrastructure for community providers,
the development of primary care networks, the provision of additional
facilities for community providers, the sustainability of services, the
development of specialised services, maximising elective care capacity
across three acute providers and the development of a mental health
strategy.

Issues arising from feedback from a public engagement exercise which
included, better access to services, easier ways to book appointments, more
support to enable people to live healthier lives, better use of technology to
support people, shorter waiting times and the need for the public to have a
better understanding of long term health conditions.

A summary of the identification of five priorities — Improving the Health and
Wellbeing of our population, developing sustainable communities,
sustainable secondary care services, transforming care across BSW and
creating strong networks of health and care professionals to deliver the NHS
long term plan and BSW'’s operational plan.

Details of the Needs Assessment/Profile of BSW showing where it was worse
than the England average, the prevalence based upon QoF data which come
from GPs, IAF better health indicators.

Priorities identified at a recent BSW workshop which included, Learning
Disabilities, Primary Care Networks, Aging Well, strengthen based working,
workforce and developing relationships.

The future work of the Integrated Care Alliance Board and the Health and
Care Board.

Joint working in respect the prevention and treatment of Diabetes and
Obesity.

Resolved — That the presentation be noted.

22.

2020 Homelessness Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

It was noted that this item had been withdrawn.

Page 4



23. Suicide and Self Harm Prevention Strategy 2019-2023

The Director of Public Health submitted a report setting out the proposed Bath and
North East Somerset (B&NES) Swindon and Wiltshire (BSW) Suicide and Self Harm
Prevention Strategy for the period 2019-2023. In presenting the report the Director
of Public Health drew Members’ attention to:

e The recommendation of the All Parliamentary Group on Suicide and Self-
Harm Prevention that Local Authorities undertake a suicide audit, develop an
action plan and have a Suicide Prevention Reference Group.

e The commitment of B&NES Swindon and Wiltshire to reduce the suicide rate.

e A breakdown of suicide rates in B&NES Swindon and Wiltshire as well as the
regional and national levels.

e A break-down of suicide rates in Swindon by age group in the period 2008 to
2017.

e Trends, emergency admissions to hospital, and Self-Harm rates in B&NES
Swindon and Wiltshire and together with regional and national statistics.

e Work to reduce suicide in high risk groups.

e The recommissioning of community health and wellbeing services to target
vulnerable groups and the availability of services for those who self-harm.

e Training for GPs on self-harm and suicide prevention.

e A focus on Children Looked After to ensure they can access services in a
timely manner.

e A review of the personality disorders pathway.

The Board in considering the report and presentation discussed:

e Whether those people committing suicide had engaged with medical
professionals or services.

e Ways in which lessons from suicide were shared between partner agencies
to improve the identification of issues leading to the death and how
communication could be improved.

e The investigation process when a notification of a suicide was received and
where the person was receiving mental health treatment.

e Concern at the increase in self-harming of young people aged under 24 years
of age and representation on multi-agency groups dealing with this issue.

e The possibility of further work in relation to the creation of a Children’s self-
harm prevention strategy.

e The increased prevalence of social media leading to self-harm in young
people.

e The recording of self-harm in Swindon as a hospital admission (as young
people are admitted for observation in accordance with NICE Guidance)
when attending the Accident and Emergency Department. It was noted that
increased the recorded rate of self-harm of young people in Swindon as
compared to other areas which don’t record the figures in a similar way.

Resolved — (1) That this Board notes the findings of the Swindon Suicide and Self-
harm Audit and Strategy and endorses its strategic recommendations.

(2) That the Council’s Cabinet and Clinical Commissioning Group’s Board be
requested to note the Swindon findings, endorse the report’'s recommendations and
adopt the BSW Suicide and Self-Harm Prevention Strategy 2019 -2023.

Page 5



24. Domestic Abuse Strategy

Steve Kensington, Head of Community Safety, presented the Swindon Multi-Agency
Domestic Abuse Strategy and drew Member’s attention to:

e The draft Swindon Multi-Agency Domestic Abuse Strategy 2020-2024 was a
multi-agency response to the issue to reduce Domestic Abuse within the
Borough.

e The strategy recognised domestic abuse was a complex issue and the
effective it had on individuals, families and communities and the impact on
individuals suffering domestic abuse.

e The demand on agencies in dealing with domestic abuse and in particular the
health service. Domestic abuse increased demand for hospital admissions
and mental health services and could lead to substance misuse.

e The demand on the police and criminal justice system in dealing with
domestic abuse with approximately 5,000 incidents reported in the Borough
in 2018.

e The physical, mental health and social impact on children of families suffering
domestic abuse.

e The 433 referrals to the Multi-agency Risk Assessment Conference from
health professionals.

e The three objectives set out within the strategy and priority actions to meet
these objectives and which underpinned the delivery plan.

e Measures set out within the strategy to gauge its success.

e That comments on the draft strategy should be forwarded to the Head of
Community Safety.

Resolved — That the draft Swindon Multi-Agency Domestic Abuse Strategy 2020-
2014 be noted.

25. Swindon Safeguarding Partnership Strategic Plan

Phillipa Lamb, Strategy and Development Manager Adults and Children’s Services,
presented the Swindon Safeguarding Partnership Strategic Plan on behalf of the
Independent Chair of the Partnership. The Strategy set out the activities and
priorities for safeguarding and the promotion of the welfare of Swindon’s children
and adults at risk.

The Board discussed:

e The new safeguarding arrangements in Swindon which were overseen by the
Swindon Safeguarding Partnership Executive.

¢ The Swindon Safeguarding Partnership’s Strategic Plan on a page setting out
the partnership’s strategic priorities for the next twelve months.

e The Safeguarding Partnership’s reliance on financial and like contributions
from partners to undertake its work.

Resolved — That the Swindon Safeguarding Partnership’s Strategic Plan on a page

be endorsed and this Board’s support for the ongoing commitment to improve
outcomes for children and adults at risk be noted.

Page 6



26. Restorative Youth Justice Plan
It was noted that this item was withdrawn.
27. Police and Crime Commissioner' Annual Report 2018/19

Martin Parker, Commissioning Manager, Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office
introduced the Police and Crime Commissioner’s Annual Report 2018/19 drawing
Members’ attention to:

e The outcomes of the recent knife crime amnesty across Wiltshire and
Swindon.

e The 18% drop in reported knife crimes.

e Community work being undertaken by the Commissioner’s office, including
the community messaging scheme, recruitment of volunteers for speed
watch and recruitment of an extra 200 special constables.

e The establishment of a rural crime team.

e The co-commissioning of a mental health triage team in the police control
team.

e The enhancement of the digital Investigation and Intelligence unit to counter
cybercrime.

e The creation of a multi-agency integrated offender management team to
target the most prolific offenders | Wiltshire and Swindon.

e The launch of the Youth Intervention Restorative Panel to prevent the
criminalisation of young people.

e That Wiltshire Police were one of three forces in the country to receive a
good rating in all three inspection areas.

e The current staffing structure of the Police Commissioner’s Office.

Resolved — That the Police and Crime Commissioner’'s Annual Report 2018/19 be
noted.

28. SEND Bulletin

The Board considered an update SEND Bulletin on Special Educational Needs and
Disability to inform forward planning and commissioning decisions and intentions
and an introduction from David Haley, Corporate Director — Children’s Services
introduced the report and commented on the monitoring and delivery of
comprehensive and timely health and care plans and work with mainstream schools
to support children with low level special needs.

Resolved — (1) That the bulletin be approved for use and publication.
(2) That the specific features of local provision be noted.

(3) That the recommendations for JCG and SEND Strategic Board actions set out in
paragraph 3.4 of the report be approved.

29. Joint Commissioning Group - Minutes for Information and Comment

Resolved - That the minutes of the Joint Commissioning Group meeting held on 30"
July and 24" September 2019 be noted.

Page 7



Page 8



Agenda Item 5

Safeguarding Adults in Swindon Annual Report 2018/19

Health and Wellbeing Board Date: 11 December 2019
Author: Sue Wald, Corporate Director Adult Social Care, SBC
Wards: All

Parishes Affected: All

1. Purpose and Reasons

1.1 To present the Safeguarding Adults in Swindon Annual Report 2018/19. The
Annual Report provides an overview of activity in relation to safeguarding adults
and progress against the Local Safeguarding Adult Board’s Strategic Priorities.

1.2  The Safeguarding Adults in Swindon Annual Report 2018/19 is attached as
appendix 1 and is available on the Swindon Safeguarding Partnership Website.

2. Recommendations

The Board is recommended to:

2.1 Note and approve the Annual Report

2.2  Assist with creating a stronger culture of collective responsibility for safeguarding
adults with care and support needs across Swindon.

2.3  Ensure partner agencies identify and act on learning to continuously improve
support for vulnerable adults at risk

3. Detalil

3.1 ltis a statutory duty for LSABs to publish an annual report to show the Board and
Member organisations the work undertaken to deliver the LSAB priorities. This is
the fourth annual report since the Care Act 2014 required local authorities to work
with the CCG and Police to establish Safeguarding Adult Boards on a statutory
footing.

3.2  The Annual Report includes:

3.2.1 An overview of adult safeguarding activity during 2018/19 with case
examples

3.2.2 An outline of progress made in addressing LSAB priorities for 2018/19 and
other developments throughout the year.

3.2.3 Progress on embedding the learning from the Safeguarding Adult Review
in 2017/18.

3.2.4 Update on the Risk Enablement Panel activity

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Phillipa Lamb,
07818510484, plamb@ swindon.gov.uk

Page 9



Safeguarding Adults in Swindon Annual Report 2018/19
Health and Wellbeing Board Date: 11 December 2019

3.2.5 Submissions from key partner agencies and members of LSAB covering
achievements and challenges with case examples

3.2.6 An overview of Swindon Safeguarding Partnership Priorities for 2019/20
4, Alternative Options

4.1  There are no suggested alternative options proposed. The publication of the
LSAB Annual Report is a statutory requirement.

5. Implications, Diversity Impact Assessment and Risk Management

Financial and Procurement Implications

5.1 The Council, Police and CCG provide resources to fund Swindon Safeguarding
Partnership. No further financial resources are being sought at this time.

Legal and Human Rights Implications

5.2  There are no direct legal or human rights implications arising from this report.

All Other Implications (including Staff, Sustainability, Health, Rural, Crime and
Disorder)

5.3 Consideration of how abuse and neglect impact upon these areas continues to
be a focus of the LSAB. There is also an overlap between the abuse of adults
with care and support needs and the work of the Community Safety Partnership
e.g. Domestic Abuse, Modern Slavery.

Diversity Impact Assessment

5.4 A Diversity Impact Assessment has been completed covering the implementation
of the Care Act. Whilst it did not identify any adverse impact on any protected
groups, it highlighted areas where additional work is required, for example to
increase engagement with some community groups which is reflected in the
newly formed Safeguarding Partnership’s priorities. One of the main drivers
behind the Care Act is to ensure consistent and fair approaches for all people
with care and support needs from any community.

Risk Management

5.5 The Safeguarding Partnership is refreshing the risk register following the
implementation of the new safeguarding arrangements.

5.6 Itisrecognised that by the statutory partners that the newly established
Safeguarding Partnership provides the opportunity to focus on a small number of
priorities that will have the most impact on improving the effectiveness of the
safeguarding system. Furthermore, the development of a multi-agency

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Phillipa Lamb,
07818510484, plamb@ swindon.gov.uk

Page 10



Safeguarding Adults in Swindon Annual Report 2018/19
Health and Wellbeing Board Date: 11 December 2019

performance dataset will allow for more robust oversight of the safeguarding
adult system

6. Consultees
6.1 All members of LSAB
7. Background Papers

7.1  Swindon Safeguarding Partnership Multi-agency Safeguarding Arrangements for
Children and Adults at Risk

https://safequardingpartnership.swindon.gov.uk/news/article/9/published new sa
fequarding arrangements for swindon

8. Appendices
8.1 Safeguarding Adults in Swindon Annual Report April 2018 — March 2019.

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Phillipa Lamb,
07818510484, plamb@ swindon.gov.uk

Page 11


https://safeguardingpartnership.swindon.gov.uk/news/article/9/published_new_safeguarding_arrangements_for_swindon
https://safeguardingpartnership.swindon.gov.uk/news/article/9/published_new_safeguarding_arrangements_for_swindon

This page is intentionally left blank



Safeguarding Adults

in SWindon Avon and Wiltshire [EB

Mental Health Partnership NHS Trust

Annual Report
April 2018 - March 2019

Great Western Hospitals m

NHS Foundation Trust

&» Swinpon

®)
( ) ) SWINDON
Carers Centre

healthwatch &

Swindon lon
Clinical Commissioning Group

\? DORSET & WILTSHIRE
FIRE AND RESCUE

Keeping Swindon\}


http://www.swindonccg.nhs.uk/
https://www.dwfire.org.uk/
http://www.swindon.gov.uk/site/index.php
https://www.dwfire.org.uk/
https://www.dwfire.org.uk/
https://www.dwfire.org.uk/
https://www.dwfire.org.uk/
http://bgswcrc.co.uk/
https://www.dwfire.org.uk/
http://www.swindon-csp.org.uk/Pages/Home.aspx
https://www.dwfire.org.uk/
http://www.wiltshire.police.uk/
https://www.dwfire.org.uk/
http://www.gwh.nhs.uk/
https://www.dwfire.org.uk/
http://www.healthwatchswindon.org.uk/
https://www.dwfire.org.uk/
http://www.awp.nhs.uk/default____341.aspx
https://www.dwfire.org.uk/
https://www.dwfire.org.uk/
https://www.dwfire.org.uk/
https://www.dwfire.org.uk/
https://www.dwfire.org.uk/

T obed

Safeguarding Adults in Swindon
Annual Report 1°* April 2018 - 31t March 2019

Note, contents page numbers will be confirmed when final draft report is agreed.

Contents:
Foreword Page
Section1 Introduction 7

Section 2  Implementation of Safeguarding Procedures

- Activity Data 2018/19 10
Section3  LSAB - Progress in 2018/19 21
Section4  Partner agency Reports 29

Final

Page 2 of 62



GT obed

Section 5

Section 6

Section 7

LSAB and Sub Groups

Intent and Future Plans for Swindon Safeguarding
Partnership

Financial Information

Appendix 1 LSAB Attendance 2018/2019

Appendix 2 Swindon Safeguarding Partnership Strategic Plan

Appendix 3 Glossary of abbreviations used

54

58

59

60

61

» Please note, any names or initials referring to alleged victims used in case studies within this report are fictitious with the exception of case study on

page 11

Final

Page 3 of 62



9T abed

Swindon Borough Council
Civic Offices

Euclid Street

Swindon

SN1 2JH

Tel: 01793 445500

Website: www.swindon.gov.uk

FOREWORD

Welcome to the Swindon Safeguarding Adult Board Annual Report 2018-19

The Safeguarding Adult Board is designed to bring together the range of organisations that deliver or commission services to support adults with care and
support needs. In doing so, it aims to:
e Raise awareness of the need to safeguard adults with care and support needs and the risks they face;
e Create a culture of shared accountability for safeguarding adults with care and support needs;
e Understand how well agencies are safeguarding adults with care and support needs and
e Identify ways to improve how adults with care and support needs are safeguarded; including through the review of cases where an adult has died
or been seriously abused or neglected.

This report provides an overview of safeguarding activity and, in particular, the nature of safeguarding adult concerns notified to the Local Authority and
how these are responded to using the “Making Safeguarding Personal” (MSP) framework. The data indicates that in 52% of cases adults were asked about
their desired outcomes in accordance with MSP; this indicates there is work to be completed to increase either the application or recording of the MSP
framework. Of those asked, a high percentage of adults report their desired outcomes were either fully or partially achieved.

Physical abuse, neglect and financial abuse are the largest categories of abuse that result in adults with care and support needs being referred to the Local
Authority. Just under half of these referrals progress to a safeguarding enquiry. It is hard to draw meaningful comparisons in terms of the conversion rate
due to inconsistencies in the way Local Authorities categorise safeguarding enquiry activity. The most recently available national data is that 38% of all
safeguarding concerns were converted to an enquiry. This report also provides some details of the response to the referrals that did not progress to a

Final
Page 4 of 62


http://www.swindon.gov.uk/info/20011/adult_social_care_and_support/435/find_out_about_adult_protection_and_safeguarding_adults_at_risk

/T 9bed

safeguarding enquiry; this information had been requested to provide some assurance that a suitable response was provided to those cases that did not
progress to a safeguarding enquiry.

Self-neglect referrals have increased by 90%; although the majority of these referrals did not result in action being taken by the safeguarding team. This
indicates that there is a need further explore how agencies respond to adults who self-neglect in accordance with the 6 principles of adult safeguarding.

The Adult Safeguarding Board has been supported by contributions in kind by Swindon Council along with some financial contribution from Swindon CCG
and Wiltshire CCG. The gap in dedicated resources has helpfully been addressed as part of the review of the safeguarding partnership arrangements that
has been carried out. This is a positive development as safeguarding adult activity requires a multi-agency approach. A range of partners play a key role in
preventing harm, positive risk management as well as undertaking safeguarding enquiries. | took up role in March 2019 and my early reflections are that
the Safeguarding Adult Board needs to focus its efforts on bringing partners together so there is a whole system approach to safeguarding adults with care
and support needs.

Prior to my arrival, domestic abuse/coercive control have been an area of consideration for the Safeguarding Adult Board. Whilst the governance of the
response to domestic abuse sits with the Community Safety Partnership, this is an area of shared responsibility given the additional vulnerabilities of
adults with care and support needs. To illustrate, approximately, 14% of safeguarding referrals referred featured domestic abuse. The Safeguarding Adult
Board is awaiting a refreshed Domestic Abuse Strategy from the Community Safety Partnership and is keen to work with the Community Safety
Partnership to ensure that the needs of adults with care and support needs are central to the local response.

Positively, efforts have been made to engage with adults with care and support needs however this has not resulted in the Safeguarding Adult Board being
able to develop meaningful arrangements to engage with adults with care and support needs. The ambition to hear the voice experiences of those who
receive services and/or their carers has rightfully been included in the new Safeguarding Partnership arrangements. This work, along with providing
leadership and effective governance of the safeguarding system so services deliver their collective accountability to safeguard adults with care and support
needs, and an enhanced learning and development offer for the multi-agency frontline should be the focus the focus of the Safeguarding Adult

Partnership for 2019-20.

An important and final comment from me; in whatever role you have played, thank you for your contribution to the safeguarding adult agenda during
2018-19 . For 2019-20, | would ask that you champion the priorities of the Safeguarding Adult Partnership within your agency or community. (Please see
on next page)

Final
Page 5 of 62



8T obed

Adults

To progress the business case to develop a more coordinated and consistent multi-agency contribution to a safeguarding adult front door for
referrals and enquiries.

To Complete Q3 and Q4 multi-agency adult audits which focus on; Q3 Are S.42 inquiries multi-agency in practice — and outcome? Q4 How
effectively is the Mental Capacity Act applied in safeguarding practice?

Complete timely Safeguarding Adult Reviews and Learning Reviews and develop action plans to improve quality of practice across the partnership
with multi-agency involvement and ownership.

To ensure our approach to Safeguarding adults is personal, person centred and outcomes focussed and meets the national framework of standards
for good practice and outcomes in adult protection work.

To enhance practitioner knowledge around neglect and self-neglect by gaining greater insight into self-neglect cases that do not meet S42
threshold, and improve pathways, guidance, tools & training and hold a self-neglect summit to share good practice across the Partnership

To progress the ‘Think Family’ approach through the use of Joint assessments between adult and children’s services following the recommendation
from a recent Safeguarding Childrens review.

*See also Appendix 3 — Swindon Safeguarding Partnership Strategic plan 2019/20

Very best wishes

Liz Murphy
Independent Chair, Swindon Safeguarding Adult Board

Final

Page 6 of 62



6T obed

Safeguarding Adults in Swindon Annual Report 2018/19

1. Introduction

Swindon Borough Council is the lead agency for adult safeguarding arrangements in Swindon. Other statutory partners for safeguarding are Wiltshire
Police and the Clinical Commissioning Group. The responsibilities of the Local Safeguarding Adults Board are in regard to those who:

e have needs for care and support (whether or not the local authority is meeting any of those needs) and;

e are experiencing, or at risk of, abuse or neglect; and

e as aresult of those care and support needs are unable to protect themselves from either the risk of, or the experience of abuse or neglect.

The duties in regard to those referred to above are that:

e where abuse or neglect is suspected (or where an adult in need of care support is at risk of abuse or neglect), local authorities make (or cause to be
made) whatever enquiries it thinks necessary to enable it to decide whether any action should be taken in the adult’s case and if so, what and by
whom;

e arrange, where appropriate, for an independent advocate to represent and support an adult who is the subject of a safeguarding enquiry;

e ensure the Safeguarding Adults Board carries out Safeguarding Adult reviews as stipulated within the Act; and

e where there is a need, ensure information is supplied to the Board to enable it to exercise its functions.

The Board is required to develop a strategic plan and publish an annual report and is committed to working together to make Swindon safer for adults
with care and support needs by co-ordinating and ensuring the effectiveness of work undertaken by local individuals and organisations in relation to
safeguarding and promoting the welfare of adults. The Board is held to account by the Health and Wellbeing Board and will develop partnerships to fulfil
its overall functions.

As lead agency, Swindon Borough Council has a team within Adult Services to consider safeguarding concerns raised and manage enquires as necessary.
They may also arrange for enquires to be carried out by the appropriate social work or care teams and support these enquiries with advice and
supervision. The team works closely with other services within the local authority, for example Community Safety or Housing Services. They may also
arrange for enquires to carried out by other agencies.

The LSAB is in place to support adults who meet the criteria for safeguarding (listed above). The focus of the LSAB is around abuse and neglect and works
towards prevention, protecting people when there is a concern, empowering people to participate in processes and ensuring there are proportionate
responses.

Final
Page 7 of 62



0z obed

According to the 2011 Census, Swindon had a population of 209,159; of those 28,854 people were aged 65 years or more (13.8%), including 13,694 aged
75 years or more (6.5%). The 2017 midyear estimate of population from the Office of National Statistics puts the total at 220,363 (15.5% of this estimate
are over 65 years old and 7% are over 75) At the time of drafting this report, more up-to-date data was not available. Based on the Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment published in 2019 10,775 people, between 18 and 64, are estimated to have a moderate disability and a further 3,200 to have a severe disability. There
are about 4,000 adults with Learning disabilities (LD) in Swindon ranging from mild to severe disability.750 people with a significant learning disability receive
services from Adult Social Services In Swindon

There were 5,170 people receiving services from Adult Social Care in 2018/19, broken down into client groups as follows:

Learning Disability 289 402 36 41
Mental Health Support 58 86 64 44
Physical Support — Access and Mobility 270 146 497 279
Physical Support — Personal Care 227 208 1427 766
Sensory Support (Dual, Hearing & Visual) 11 4 78 41
Support with Memory and Cognition 7 9 100 75
Long Term Asylum Seeker Support 1

Social Isolation 1 1
Substance Misuse 1 1

Total Clients 863 857 2203 1247

There is a 5.86% decrease in the number of people being supported by adult social care, in 2018/19 compared to the 2017/18 figure of 5,492. This maybe
as a result of an increased provision within the voluntary sector and the improved signposting to other organisations.

The Borough of Swindon is largely urban with small pockets of rural areas. Within Swindon there are some deprived areas which can also impact on levels
of vulnerability for some of those living there. Crime volumes in Swindon and Wiltshire are low in comparison to other Police forces. In Swindon from
March 2018 until March 2019, there were 17,390 reported crimes of which 301 were categorised as hate crimes, and of those 23 were disability hate
crimes. Overall there was a 7.2% decrease in reported crimes. There is a commitment to partnership working in Swindon to: prevent Crime and anti-social
behaviour; protect the most vulnerable in society; work in a person centred way and secure high quality, efficient and trusted services.

This Annual Report includes:

Final
Page 8 of 62



e How safeguarding adults is implemented: Information on activity and data collected throughout the year regarding safeguarding concerns and
enquires made in line with local and statutory arrangements;
e The Impact of Safeguarding: An outline of the progress and updates during 2018/19 and reports from partner agencies highlighting their successes and

challenges; and
e Anoverview of the priorities for the Board and development of the new Safeguarding Partnership 2019/20.

T2 9bed

Final
Page 9 of 62



2z abed

2. Implementation of Safeguarding Procedures - Activity Data 2018/19

(Figures in brackets relate to data in last year’s Annual Report)

The following data has been collected from the Adult Safeguarding team to monitor performance. It is also used to meet Health and Social Care
Information Centre requirements.

Figure 1: Total number of safeguarding referrals received

. 666
Under 65s: | (458)
. 919
Over 65s: | (692)
1585
Total (1150)
0 200 400 600 800 1000 1200 1400 1600 1800

There has been a 38% increase in the number of concerns received by the Adult Safeguarding team. The reason for the increase is not clear, however
those receiving and screening concerns have been less experienced and some of the referrals could have gone directly to the relevant Adult Social Care
team for an assessment of need. Such an increase is not unusual as other local authorities are reporting similar numbers in relation to their population.

Final
Page 10 of 62



Progress to

Rate of concerns

No. Concerns SafEeng:zirzing % progressed Population per 100,000
65+ 919 426 46.35% 35,174 2,612.73
18-64 666 336 50.45% 136,583 487.62
Total 1,585 762 48.08% 171,757 922.82

59% of the safeguarding concerns were female (39% under 65 and 61% over 65) and 41% were regarding men (45% under 65 and 55% over 65).

Information on the primary support reasons has not been included this year, as figures obtained are based on what was understood to be the support
reason at the time of referral by the person raising the concern. 36% of these were recorded as “not known” or “no support reason” and is therefore not
helpful in understanding the prevalence of abuse within service user groups. Only 119 concerns were attributed to people with a need for “support with
memory and cognition”, half the number recorded in 17/18, and includes people with dementia. It would be expected that the number of concerns for
this group of people would increase.

Figure 2: Chart shown concerns received and those progressing over 5 years

1800

1600

£z obed

1400
1200
1000
800
600
400
200

0

Final

725
382
o
W~ $
> >

1184

1121

498

426

1585
1150
763
583
% o
S
£

Concerns Received

Concerns that progressed to a
safeguarding enquiry

Page 11 of 62



vz obed

Of the 1,585 cases referred, 763 cases progressed to an enquiry, which represents a “conversion” rate of 48%. (See below for information about this in
other local authority areas). 822 cases were assessed and did not progress through to a full safeguarding process. 403 of those required no further action
by the Adult Safeguarding team (either because there was little evidence of abuse or neglect (or the risk of it) or the alleged victim did not wish to proceed
or the alert was about a person who was not in need for care and support). 302 cases required care management input (a new care assessment, change to
care plan or a review of their care). 26 were referred to another process, for example complaints action or action by the provider (e.g. disciplinary action).
46 alerts resulted in the individual being signposted to other services (for example Domestic Abuse services when the person did not have a care and
support need, Neighbourhood Policing team to provide advice on home security). 39 cases were closed at the request of the individual concerned. Often
in these cases further advice or guidance is given to the person should they experience any difficulties in the future and the team assess the situation to
minimise any future risks.

Care Example

NHS 111 raised a concern as Rosie Mundy, aged 88, who self-medicates and had taken her medication for the evening in the morning. They categorised
this as self-neglect (accidental overdose). Rosie’s “carer” who arranges the medication but does not administer it confirmed that this was not the first time
Rosie had done this and said Rosie was becoming more muddled about medication. NHS 111 staff flagged this up with Rosie’s GP who said they would
contact the family.

The case was screened out as not requiring a Safeguarding Enquiry and referred for the more proportionate action for the Adult Care team to arrange an
assessment of Mrs Mundy’s needs, which concluded that there was a need for increased care support with the management of her medication which was
provided.

Comparisons with other area
In the main, the number of concerns coming into teams in the South West region are similar in the relation to their populations as Swindon.

Swindon continues to report a conversion rate of 48%. For the neighbouring authorities contacted to ask about their activity for this reporting period,

conversion rates were:

LAl: 78% (although they reported that they do not start counting their concerns until they have been through a screening and triage process).

LA2: 17.6% (they report that a lot of action is taken outside the section 42 enquiry process but may still be included in their statistical information)

LA3:  50% (this local authority say they have an advice line that also serves to “filter” out some concerns)

LA4:  30% (this local authority has developed an advice and contact team which screens out concerns that previously went directly to their Multi Agency
Safeguarding Hub).

LAS5:  34% (however this local authority has 40% fewer concerns coming in although similar area in relation to population).

Final
Page 12 of 62




Gg abed

The national average for case converted to an enquiry (2017/18) was 38%. More up to date national figures will be available in November 2019 when NHS
Digital publishes the annual safeguarding collection for 2018/19.

Figure 3 Types of Abuse Alleged

Physical
Neglect
Financial

Self-neglect

Psychological
Sexual

Organisational

Domestic Abuse 9 (0%*)

Modern Slavery | Under5 (Under5)

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400 450
*not previously reported separately before January 2019

There has been an increase in the number of concerns regarding physical abuse (this is greater than neglect which was the most frequent type of abuse
reported in the previous year). While all abuse types have increased, the increase is not necessarily proportionate with the overall increase in concerns
received. For example, self-neglect is almost 90% up on last year. This could be a reflection that more cases are being put through as safeguarding
concerns unnecessarily (only 16% of these cases required intervention by the safeguarding team, while 71% required action by another team and 13%
required no further action).

Final
Page 13 of 62



9z abed

9 cases were reported as Domestic Abuse. This was previously not recorded as a separate abuse type but recorded against all cases as to whether
domestic abuse was suspected in relation to any type of abuse, in recognition that most forms of abuse could also be domestic abuse. There were 217
case where domestic abuse was indicated on the referral form with the following types of abuse:

Physical: 92
Psychological: 68
Financial: 25
Sexual: 19
Neglect: 4

Case Example

The Ambulance Service raised a concern as they attended to a woman (Kelly) who had taken an overdose of medication. On taking her to hospital she
disclosed that her husband was mentally abusive and manipulative. The safeguarding concern progressed to an enquiry but when contacted for her views
and asked what outcomes she would like to be achieved from the enquiry, Kelly made it very clear that she did not want any action taken. The Enquiry
Manager worked through the potential risks of her situation with Kelly and supported her to develop a self-management plan including contact with
Swindon Women'’s Aid, liaison with her GP and the Mental Health worker at the hospital (she was assessed as requiring mental health services). Kelly had
a plan to live with friends as a place of safety should she change her mind and leave her partner. Kelly was advised that she could contact Adult
Safeguarding for further advice or future self-referral.

Most referrals come from care providers (455) with the next largest referrers being the hospital, ambulance service, adult services followed by mental
health professionals. There has been a significant increase in the number of concerns being raised by GP surgeries (63). 35% of these cases progressed to
safeguarding enquiries, with most of the others being referred to care management services. This increase could be due to the work of the named GP for
Safeguarding who came into post during the year and has arranged a series of awareness sessions for GPs.

Final
Page 14 of 62




Figure 4: Ethnicity of alleged victims

B White British
M Refused or Not Obtained

B Any Other White Background

B W/B Caribbean, W/B African,
Indian, Pakistani, Any Other
Asian/Mixed/Ethnic Background

B White Irish

J2 abed

For 2018/19 the number of referrals concerning non-white British people appears to be low. Overall the proportion illustrated above does not match the
make-up of the wider population of Swindon based on the 2011 census. However, the numbers of those where ethnicity is not recorded is high. For some
of these, the referral has not progressed to a safeguarding enquiry but there is also a lack of retrospective recording i.e. establishing ethnicity at a later
stage and updating the records.

Further work is required to improve recording and the new care management recording system may improve this over time. Whether there is an issue of a
lack of engagement with some groups needs to be given consideration with the development of the new Communication and Engagement Group.

Final
Page 15 of 62



8z abed

Figure 8: Information on those alleged to have caused harm

H Whole Service H Self

i Other Family Member B Member of Staff (incl Emergency Service Staff)

M Partner E Other Vulnerable Adult

B Member of Social Network B Not Known (or no one identified as causing harm)
Parent / Carer M Stranger

M Neighbour Other (Prof. Dr/Nurse, Business, Volunteer)

There has been an increase in the number of referrals regarding whole service concerns: 248, of which 195 were recorded as neglect. These are often
cases where an individual staff member was not identified or it was considered there to be organisational shortfall. 73 were concerns about a domiciliary
care agency and 76 were regarding care homes. Where appropriate, large scale enquiries were held and providers were required to supply action plans
that could be reviewed to check on improvement. 31 cases were regarding the hospital and for those that progressed to a section 42 enquiry, good quality
clinical investigations were carried out and where necessary appropriate action taken.

While a substantial number of referrals were regarding family members or partners, there does not appear to be a significant increase in the number of
cases alerted compared with last year. 377 cases were reported where the referrer said the person alleged to have caused harm had caring
responsibilities. Physical and psychological abuse (both 102) were the highest type of abuse reported although the highest number of cases that

Final
Page 16 of 62



progressed to an enquiry were those reported as financial abuse, with 96 cases reported and 56 cases progressed. These cases can be very complex and
take considerable time to complete and in most cases a risk identified and action taken which would indicate the concerns were substantiated.

Case Example

The Emergency Department at GWH raised a concern because one of their patients (Glenda) was admitted to hospital as the patient discovered that a
family member had taken money from her bank account. This progressed to a Police investigation and a prosecution pursued.

After discussion with Glenda a multi-agency planning meeting took place at her home. Not only was it important for Glenda to achieve resolution, there
was a need to plan her future as she was destitute and unable to pay her rent where she lived. The Police investigation continued while agencies
safeguarded Glenda to ensure her health and safety and maintained her tenancy. The family member was convicted of theft.

This case is a good example of well-coordinated multiagency working.

6¢ obed

The majority of alleged abuse took place in the person’s own home by a partner, spouse or other family member, with a substantial number having carer
responsibilities which could signify some level of carer stress. This is unsurprising as this is where most people with care and support needs live and receive
services and there is an emphasis on ensuring people can remain in their own home and maintain as much independence as possible.

The next highest number of referrals were raised from care homes (with or without nursing care). 69% of these were the services reporting themselves
usually about a staff conduct issue or an incident between two of their residents. As previously reported, there has been a propensity to report minor
issues to “cover ourselves”. 52% of these cases progressed to an enquiry.

As previously stated, there has been an increase in the number of referrals reporting “whole service” concerns. Some of these required a whole service
enquiry, particularly if the concern is a wider issue than a single incident of neglect (for example). This could be raised by the Care Quality Commission
(CQC) following an inspection where the provider has been judged as inadequate or requiring improvement in a large number of areas.

Final
Page 17 of 62




0€ abed

Who Supported the Adult?

The Care Act stipulates that advocacy needs to be provided for adults who have a substantial difficulty in engaging with the safeguarding process and have
no one else appropriate to help and support them. Swindon Advocacy Movement provides a service for those who need support. The following chart
shows how support was provided to those where the concern raised progressed to an enquiry.

H Self Supported

M Family Member
Other
Advocate

B Not Supported

M Independent MCA

Advocate
H Friend

Other than those who support themselves, the majority of the support came from family members. The Safeguarding team liaise well with the Advocacy
Service who are very responsive when there is a need for an advocate, or an Independent Mental Capacity Advocate where the person lacks capacity and
has no one appropriate to help and support them. Although it is not a substantial amount, the enquiries where it is recorded that “other” supported, on
closer inspection showed that a lot of these were staff members. Social work staff have been informed, that where a paid member of staff is involved they
can provide basic support (for example help with communication) but cannot advocate or make decisions for the person. Staff have also been briefed that
there is an Advocacy service in Swindon, and to make timely and accurate referrals for their service. Another issue is the use of the term “not supported”
and clarification on whether this means that they were self-supported and this has not been recorded correctly or whether it means they were not
involved. The new manager of the Safeguarding team is committed to the principles of Making Safeguarding Personal and is working with the team to
reinforce this priority, to ensure those people who are the subject of safeguarding concern need to be involved at the beginning, during the safeguarding
process and at the end to see if their desired outcomes have been met.

Final
Page 18 of 62



T¢ abed

Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP)

Of the 395 cases where Desired Outcomes were expressed

(of cases that progressed)

292 were Fully Achieved
83 were Partially Achieved
20 were Not Achieved*

*Where desired outcomes were not achieved, this is not a poor reflection of the safeguarding process. This can occur when an enquiry did not result in
prosecution which the individual hoped for (for example) or where the adult did not want action under the safeguarding procedures but it was felt that
there were still risks that needed addressing. For example someone who is self-neglecting but not recognising the risks. Desired outcomes were not
recorded in 368 cases. This is in part due to practice and the recording system. This weakness has been addressed in the re-modelled safeguarding team.

Outcomes of Referrals

Figure 12: Outcomes of closed cases that progressed to enquiries (including closed cases that commenced in the previous year)

Number of cases
OUTCOME concluded in

2018/19
Risk identified and action taken* 533
Risk identified and no action required 1
Risk - Assessment inconclusive and action taken* 18
Risk - Assessment inconclusive and no action required 8
No risk identified and action taken 36
No risk identified and no action required 32
Enquiry ceased at individual's request and no action taken 31

* 659 cases were concluded during the year and the aim is to reduce or remove the risk by taking appropriate action. Action taken could include the
individual involved or the person alleged to have caused harm. Sometimes no direct action is required for the adult, but the focus could be on the person
alleged to have caused harm. Possible actions include a change to the person’s care plan, counselling, help with management of finances, training and

Final
Page 19 of 62



support, accommodation move or action by the provider. Examples of action taken with the person alleged to have caused harm include disciplinary
action, restricting access to the adult, changes to their care plan and action by police with could include criminal prosecution.

Z¢< obed

Final
Page 20 of 62



e¢ obed

3. LSAB - Progress in 2018/19

3.1. Priorities for 2018/19

The LSAB agreed an updated 3-year Strategy linked to the 6 principles that underpin adult safeguarding:

Empowerment - Presumption of person led decisions and informed consent;

Protection - Support and representation for those in greatest need;

Prevention - It is better to take action before harm occurs;

Proportionality - Proportionate and least intrusive response appropriate to the risk presented;

Partnership - Local solutions through services working with their communities. Communities have a part to play in preventing, detecting and reporting
neglect and abuse; and

Accountability - Accountability and transparency in delivering safeguarding.

These are the Boards Strategic priorities which link to the Government priorities:

Effective Governance

Intention
We will develop the capacity of Swindon LSAB and its infrastructure to effectively deliver the core functions of the Board to help keep adults with care
and support needs in Swindon safe.

Implementation in 2018/19

Final

Development of links with other key statutory partnerships (particularly the Health and Well-Being Board, the LSCB, and the Community Safety
Partnership), and voluntary sector, identifying areas of commonality and governance arrangements, receiving reports from them focused on
specific issues and themes;

The Board has been sufficiently resourced by partner agencies to undertake its responsibilities including the appointment of a dedicated Board
Manager and administrative support;

Introduction of an Induction programme for new Board members;

Completion of a self-assessment of Board development; and

Implementation of the Board review including membership of the Board and its sub groups, and monitoring attendance at meetings.

Page 21 of 62



y¢ obed

Impact
Throughout the year the Board has discussed and consulted on the future of safeguarding arrangements across the children and adult safeguarding

boards. Agreement on the future Safeguarding arrangements for Swindon was reached in April 2019 and the arrangements were published the end of
April 2019 with implementation from end of July 2019. As some of the Board functions will be shared, it has been agreed to have a single team
managing and administering Board work. This will help with resources to the Board, but also gives the opportunity to increase consistency and sharing
of expertise across children and adult safeguarding

There will be more information on the new arrangements in the priorities for 2019/20 at the end of this report.
Performance and Quality
Intention

We will ensure that there are effective multi-agency quality assurance and performance management processes in place which will promote the
welfare of adults with care and support needs and will hold partners to account

Implementation 2018/19

¢ Implementation of a multi-agency quality assurance process and schedule, and reporting system to the Board;

e Audits found that there was a lack of a multi-agency response in the implementation of an agreed plan in relation to financial abuse, a need to
ensure a personalised approach was evidenced in all financial abuse cases, risk assessment and information sharing across agencies could be
improved, a personalised approach was evidenced in domestic abuse and self-neglect cases. Social isolation was a major factor in self-neglect
cases.

e Agencies were hold to account for a reduction in inappropriate referrals to ensure key risk cases are not missed;

e Identification of adults in need of care and support who are or have been experiencing abuse or neglect (increase in neglect, and abuse in people’s
own homes);

e In cooperation with relevant key partnership boards, the Board explored the Swindon safeguarding risks relating to known vulnerability particularly
learning disabilities, self-neglect, domestic abuse, radicalisation, hate crime, trafficking/modern slavery and financial exploitation;

e Learning was shared from Safeguarding Adult Reviews and Domestic Homicide Reviews, sharing lessons learnt with the Community Safety
Partnership;

e The Board received a report from Healthwatch regarding service user experience, particularly in respect of making safeguarding personal
(Empowerment), and using this to drive practice improvements; and

Final

Page 22 of 62



G¢ obed

Impact
A Quality Assurance Framework has been agreed and implemented and there were three audits (Domestic Abuse, Financial Abuse and Self Neglect).

Reports have been delivered to the Board and individual agencies have developed action plans arising from the findings. There is also a self-assessment
process where agencies are reporting on specific areas of safeguarding work. At the end of the report period, an audit was started on how partner
agencies are working on Preventing Abuse, it will be concluded mid-2019.

As previously stated, there has been little improvement in the number of inappropriate safeguarding referrals and there has been an overall increase
in concerns. The development of a Triage and Screening team within Adult Services may help to reduce these numbers by guiding those making
referrals about the appropriateness of doing so. The quality assurance system does look at inaccurate concerns but also focuses on the areas Board
members felt required some special attention (learning disabilities, self-neglect, domestic abuse, radicalisation, hate crime, trafficking/modern slavery
and financial exploitation) and while it has not covered all these areas in detail, the new Performance and Quality Sub-group will need to continue to
prioritise these areas.

The “service user” experience is still an issue that requires further action. While those involved in safeguarding cases have been offered opportunities
to feedback, there has been no take up. Discussions are continuing with Healthwatch to consider different methods to encourage feedback. In the new

structure there will be a Communication and Engagement Group which aims to obtain a view of how those subject of safeguarding concerns can give
feedback to help improve the approaches used by the safeguarding and care teams.

Communication and Engagement

Intention

The LSAB will ensure there is a consistent and coordinated approach to how the safeguarding message for adults is disseminated to all groups and
communities in Swindon, and will ensure engagement with adults and communities of all backgrounds and make up in the work of LSAB.
Implementation 2018/19

e The website has information about standards and developing it further when the new platform is in place;

e An easy read document was developed.

¢ Implementation of a the new model to gain the voice of service users and carers, and act on suggestions linked to existing services and groups; and
¢ Developing more effective use of the media.

Final

Page 23 of 62



9¢ abed

Impact
The development of the service user forum has been slow and while there was one meeting held about on-line safety that was well attended and

feedback provided to the Board, other planned forums had poor attendance

The current webpages providing information to professionals and the public have been expanded during the year and there is a separate page for the
Board and related documentation. It appears these are well used, for instance online referral forms are popular and widely used.

Easy read documents are available for service users and the “Swindon Safeguarding Guide” that is used to guide people through the safeguarding
process is now widely used and popular with safeguarding staff and those subject of safeguarding concerns.

Overall, with the development of the Communication and Engagement Group, there will be improved use of media opportunities and wider availability
of information to the community and professionals working in all care sectors.

Workforce Development

Intention
We will ensure the workforce of all partner agencies has access to and has undergone robust training relevant to their role, and understand how to
apply it to their role

Implementation 2018/19

The Council continued to offer and provide safeguarding awareness sessions to anyone who is in contact with adults in need of care and support. Over
300 staff received basic awareness training, including Care staff, GPs, Housing Services staff, volunteers connected to the Community Navigation Team
and staff and volunteers from Swindon Carers Centre. Although this training is free of charge, there have been fewer providers making use of this
training. It has been publicised through the Contracts and Commissioning team. It may be as a result of employers being reluctant to release staff for
half a day and they may choose to access awareness training in other ways. Judging the effectiveness of this may be difficult, however reports from the
Care Quality Commission often report that staff within services they inspect appear to have a good knowledge of safeguarding and know how to report
concerns.

Adult Services has increased the training opportunities for staff working in different areas of Adult Social Care and safeguarding (see table below).
There has been a new course on applying the Mental Capacity Act into practice and 40 staff have attended this and spoken very highly of the trainer
who delivered it. As a result of the Safeguarding Adult Review on Honor, mandatory training on Domestic Abuse and Coercive Controlling behaviour
took place in the early part of the year.

Final

Page 24 of 62



The following table shows the range of training provided, including numbers attended:

Basic Awareness: % Day (monthly)
All staff working in the Council, health services and in the private/voluntary sector who are regularly in contact with adults
in need for care and support.

206 attendees (79 from Private/Voluntary Sector & 127 Council staff (adult services, Public Health, Housing,
Community Health and Wellbeing, provider services)).

Foundation Course for Enquiry Officers: 1 Day
Any staff within adult services who will undertake supporting role for section 42 enquiries. (Staff from other agencies (e.g.
GWH may attend if they are to fulfil the EO role)

29 staff mainly from SBC but also AWP, GWH and Swindon Advocacy Movement attended

Enquiry Manager Training: 2 Day
Key Staff within Adult Services who will act as Enquiry Managers

§ 19 staff
g Provider Managers Safeguarding Training: 1 Day
~ | Managers and senior staff from provider services — course funded and administered by Care Skills Partnership
47 managers and senior staff — mainly from residential or nursing homes.
Coercive Controlling Behaviour and Domestic Abuse: /2 Day
All staff within adult care teams (including mental health), safequarding and MCA/DolS team
Approximately 70 adult service staff including some from Mental Health Team.
Mental Capacity into Practice: 1 Day
Adult Social Care Practitioners
18 staff from adult services
Various bespoke sessions Safeguarding awareness/updates with specific services
As required
Community Navigation team — Volunteer Coordinator (11), GP’s (30 estimate — arranged by GWH), Swindon
Carer’s Centre (23) and Sheltered Housing Staff (30)
Final

Page 25 of 62



8¢ obed

Impact

Enquiry Manager training has improved practice and awareness of legislation and application of government priorities.

Application of Mental Capacity Act has improved, where professionals are mindful of assuming capacity, there is a need to look at the indicators which
would lead to capacity assessments being required.

There is greater awareness that while people who make unwise decisions is not an indicator of a lack of capacity, staff may need to continue to work
with individuals rather than assuming lifestyle choice.

GP awareness has improved accuracy of referrals

The increase in referral rates maybe as a result of greater awareness.

3.2. Safeguarding Adult Reviews

The Care Act places a requirement on the LSAB to carry out Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SAR). These are when there is an adult in the area with needs
for care and support (whether or not the local authority has been meeting any of those needs) and there is a concern how the Board, or members or
other persons “with relevant functions” have worked together in safeguarding the adult and they have died and the cause was thought to be abuse or
neglect. Or a SAR can be commissioned where serious abuse or neglect is suspected to have taken place.

A SAR is a multi-agency review process that seeks to determine what relevant agencies and individuals involved could have done differently that could
have prevented harm or a death from taking place. The purpose of a SAR is not to apportion blame. It is to promote effective learning and
improvement to prevent future deaths or serious harm occurring again.

During 2018/19 There were no SARs completed, however the report of the SAR referred to in the last LSAB Annual Report regarding the death of
Honor, a 90-year old widow living with her son, in January 2017, was widely circulated with the expectation that agencies develop action plans from
the learning arising from the Review. The LSAB has been reviewing the actions required and progress made by the respective agencies.

e There are improved links between the Domestic Abuse and Violence against Women and Girls Board and the Safeguarding Board. The Community
Safety Manager is now a member of the LSAB and presents relevant reports.

e Improved training has taken place around Mental Capacity with a new course, Mental Capacity into Practice. This has been widely available for
adult services staff with a view to extending participation to other agencies.

e Domestic Abuse and Coercive and Controlling Behaviour training also took place and training continues to be available around Domestic Abuse.

e There are closer links with Swindon Women’s Aid with some agencies (especially GWH). The CCG has identified funding to widen the links with GP
practices.

Final

Page 26 of 62



6¢ abed

A Learning, Review and Development Sub-group has been developed to promote learning from Safeguarding Adults’ Reviews and other reviews
nationally and locally.

An audit of Domestic Abuse took place between April and July 2018 and partners completed a template to capture actions taken in response to the
audit findings.

ADASS guidance on Domestic Abuse and Safeguarding has been widely distributed among adult services staff and links to this guidance is included
in the Policy and Procedures for Safeguarding Adults and on the Adult Safeguarding webpage.

Professional, independent supervisions for the Swindon Borough Council Safeguarding Team have been established

There is a new Adult Services IT system which is developing ways to judge quality markers of safeguarding cases.

The new Safeguarding Team is in place and led by an experienced team manager, where processes have been developed to manage increasing
demand

Safeguarding “Threshold” Guidance has been published and shared with provider service managers

The Safeguarding Team is represented at fortnightly MARAC meetings.

3.3. Risk Enablement Panel

The multi-agency Risk Enablement Panel (REP) has been active for approximately four years. During this time the Risk Enablement Manager (now Risk
Management Lead) has been involved in 56 cases. Some of these are currently open. A number of cases have not required the input of the Manager
other than providing advice or ensuring that agencies have exhausted their options before referring the case to the REP manager.

The purpose of the Risk Enablement Panel is to:

Final

e Share information to identify, clarify and agree on risk

e Promote safety and wellbeing of high risk adults in Swindon

e Improve multi-agency communication pathways

e Utilise the resources in Swindon more efficiently

e Develop a Risk Management Plan

e Forthose who are not engaging, co-ordinate a Risk Management Plan to seize the opportunities that can enable engagement and/or monitor
the well-being of the person e.g. outreach opportunities, support from the community and locality input.

e Ensure any actions are covered by a legal framework or are lawful

e Improve agency accountability

e Identification of a lead/key worker

e Share risk across agencies

e Consider options that will enhance the range of possibilities available to professionals to improve the outcome for the individual.

Page 27 of 62



ot abed

The criteria for cases that can be put forward to the Risk Enablement Panel include the person concerned being deemed to have mental capacity (as
different processes would need to be put in place if some lacked capacity).

The Risk Enablement Panel is for those:
e Who are at risk due to severe self-neglect/self-harm;
e With risk taking behaviours;
e Who are change resistant;
e Who refuse to engage with services;
¢ Who have experienced abuse by a third party but are not willing to engage in the safeguarding process or with services;
e Who are not willing to engage with eligible services;
e Who are ‘frequent callers’ to services; and
e Where the agency is struggling to maintain a high risk situation as a single agency.

The REP process will only be enacted when all other interventions have not produced an improvement in outcomes for the individual(s) of concern.
The role of the REP is to facilitate, develop risk management plans and monitor their effectiveness. The Objective of the Panel is unchanged since the
last Annual Report

Overall the risk enablement/management process is about concentrating on what can be achieved, rather than what cannot, and bringing together
people from different organisations to develop shared perceptions of risk. In January 2019 the Risk Management (Enablement) Panels moved to the
Community Safety Partnership from Adult Services.

Case Example

AZ was referred to the Risk Enablement Panel in 2016 and has now moved into his own accommodation with support from paid carers. AZ has complex
needs and had been highly socially marginalised, stigmatised, and had become isolated from services. Although in need of in-depth assessments due to
their complex presentations, AZ was unable to attend assessments as he had no fixed abode and establishing contact information was problematic. This
meant services/providers did not have an evidenced based understanding of how to work with AZ to meet his care and support needs.

The Risk Enablement Panel, working in a multi-agency approach, was able to understand and work on an engagement strategy which incorporated
developing and assessing mental, psychological and/or emotional health needs; economic inactivity; financial and other areas of exploitation; contact with
the criminal justice system; physical health needs and experience of domestic abuse; self-neglect; and being vulnerably housed by “sofa surfing”. Over a
number of years engagement strategies agreed at the REP, assessments were able to take place and an enhanced understanding of the individual’s care

Final
Page 28 of 62




T abed

and support needs were identified. This meant good but challenging relationships had developed with AZ and a network of professionals were there to
maintain engagement and be a protective factor. As there was clear evidence of engagement, evidenced assessments and support workers in place, it
meant that services which had previously exhausted their legal and moral obligations became willing to work with AZ again. This was because there was a
co-ordinated understanding of the risk mitigation and management plans and how to coordinate these with services and the service user. Mainstream
services which were not equipped to support individuals with overlapping needs like those of AZ were now accessible.

Being safely housed was AZ’s real desire, and there had been a history of tenancies ending which was a barrier. However, housing and social care
professionals recognised the work that had been achieved and agreed to look for a property. A few months later the property had been identified,
refurbished and AZ with the support of carers purchased their furnishings. At the end of the tenancy sign-up meeting AZ was handed the keys and driven
to the new home, which they are settling into well. Although this is one aspect of reducing their risks, the case remains open to monitor and support their
transition.

4. Partner agency Reports
4.1. Swindon CCG

Successes

The CCG has continued to develop and strengthen its safeguarding adult arrangements and that of the providers we commission. The CCG governing
body receives an annual report and this year also received safeguarding adults training for board members. The CCG has increased the resources to
include a new band 7 post (currently being recruited to) and a full-time safeguarding administrator post for the whole team (children and adults) in
recognition of the ongoing capacity issues. The CCG has re-written its joint safeguarding children and adult’s policy to be explicit on the associated
international and national rights related to safeguarding; has ensured all its staff are fully compliant with the requirements for safeguarding adults and
Prevent training. The CCG has agreed with Wiltshire and BANES CCGs an STP wide safeguarding adult schedule and dashboard for all providers
commissioned within these three areas. The CCG has engaged fully as a member of the LSAB and chairs one of its sub-groups. The CCG provides one to
one support to the safeguarding adult leads within provider organisations. The CCG has ensured preparations are in place to support the CCG and
providers to move to the new Liberty Protection Safeguard (LiPS) arrangements.

Challenges

Safeguarding adult challenges for the CCG relate to the high volume of alerts or concerns regarding health providers particularly care/nursing homes
which the CCG are required to respond to; ensuring there is sufficient capacity within the health system to comply with new LiPS arrangements;
ensuring providers are implementing the new intercollegiate guidance for safeguarding adults.

Final
Page 29 of 62




2y obed

Meeting LSAB Strategic Objectives
During the last year the following have been achieved:

Final

The agreement of a Swindon-wide Safeguarding Policy written by Swindon CCG for all GP surgeries

A thorough review of all areas of safeguarding within a surgery, by completion of a self-assessment audit by all surgeries. This highlights areas of
weakness with GP surgeries, mainly in 2 areas, safer recruitment and audit, and the CCG is now giving targeted support in these areas.

All surgeries have a safeguarding lead and deputy lead.

Consent/capacity forms are drafted and given to SBC Safeguarding Adults team to use when requesting information from GPs.

Teaching sessions — five surgeries visited, and two large teaching sessions completed.

Intranet has been set up for surgeries to access relevant safeguarding adults’ information.

The Safeguarding Adults team at SBC has been under pressure in terms of capacity. SBC Safeguarding Adults have said to the CCG that their
processes internally at SBC need improvement. The CCG is keen to work closely with this team to improve the involvement of GPs in the
safeguarding of adults in their care and have approached SBC with this suggestion however capacity issues within SBC have prevented any
meaningful engagement with the CCG to support and improve involvement of GPs in Safeguarding Enquiries. Once SBC have reviewed and
improved their own processes we anticipate that SBC will be in a position to engage with the CCG Named GP for Safeguarding to improve the
processes surrounding GP involvement and requests for information with regards Safeguarding Enquiries.

Currently the CCG remain concerned that GPs may not always be invited nor always available to attend and contribute to strategy discussions or
multi-agency professionals’ meetings when they occur and where there is a Safeguarding Enquiry about their own patients. The CCG will look for
better collaboration and partnership working between GPs and the safeguarding team to address this next year.

The CCG are concerned that other agencies do not understand the rules from the GMC on when a GP can or cannot share information. In response
the Named GP has revised the process of seeking information from GPs and developed forms to aid other agencies to highlight to GPs the
necessary information that they need to provide to GPs in order to enable GPs to share information appropriately.

For the next year the CCG Primary Care Safeguarding Adults aims are to include reports for Adult Safeguarding Enquiries into the Locally Enhanced
Service for Safeguarding which monitors requests into GP surgeries and reports sent back to SBC, to encourage Primary Care Network Safeguarding
Clinicians to be placed in post in each Primary Care network, to develop a specific form for GPs to complete for Adult Safeguarding Enquiries and to
continue the teaching programme.

Page 30 of 62



£t obed

4.2. Wiltshire Police
Successes

Stalking and Harassment

As there was a clear challenge to develop a response to stalking and harassment, a working group involving officers from CID and CPT from each hub
has been established to become champions for Stalking offences. The aim is for the champions to be upskilled with best practice and provide up to
date advice to officers involved with stalking offences. A monthly report will be run and new offences of stalking identified for each hub which are
reviewed by the champions to provide investigative advice and signpost officers to the Stalking and Harassment hub which contains the information
and risk assessment forms they will need for the stalking investigation.

In addition to this training, Detective Sergeants and Inspectors had an input from Professor Jane Monkton-Smith, a lecturer in Stalking and Homicide,
who attended a development day and involving control centre staff. This resulted in members of the contact centre correctly identifying a Stalking
offence upon first report. They ask the right questions of the victim and actively put learning into practice. This has been acknowledged and the officer
has since joined the working group to become a champion within the Contact Centre setting.

Herbert Protocol

The Herbert Protocol document release is due to take place at the end of July with a formal Launch on 19th September to coincide with Alzheimer’s
Awareness Week. The Protocol will help to manage the risk to missing persons with dementia.

Domestic Abuse

A new officer will be responsible for managing those perpetrators of domestic abuse who are identified as posing the highest risk to victims, in a bid to
aid rehabilitation and reduce the risk of their reoffending. Domestic abuse is at the centre of the Com Policing team investigative standard work stream
to upskill front line officers. There is a force-wide drive to improve our investigative standards especially within Community Policing, around domestic
abuse investigations increase formal action taken rates and reduces repeat calls. There is a current focus on Evidence Led Prosecutions; this work
stream is overseen by the Assistant Chief Constable.

Partnership working

There are strong partnership relationships across both Swindon and Wiltshire and under the new safeguarding arrangements formed from Working
Together 2018, both local authority areas have taken the opportunity to work more holistically across children’s, adults and CSP agendas in order to
better focus on vulnerability as a life course, with an enhanced focus on prevention and early intervention. This will allow for a more effective and
efficient response across the partnerships and it is hoped will reduce demand.

Final

Page 31 of 62



vt obed

Challenges

Domestic Abuse

In 2018, domestic abuse crimes have increased by 14% compared to 2017 figures and there are concerns around investigatory resources being
available to cope with continuing increase. There will be a review of demand on public protection in October 2019 to make sure the department are
able to cope with above expected levels of demand. The Force incident manager review has factored in any potential future demand.

Frontline Resources
A critical incident has been declared in relation to levels of frontline community policing staff. This is being monitored and worked on by the executive
leadership team however this is likely to have an ongoing effect on staff wellbeing and service delivery.

Stalking Clinic
Currently Wiltshire Police are considering establishing a stalking clinic to address high risk cases of Stalking but will need participation from partners
and funding being available in order for it to be a viable option. The working group to address assessment of risk and establishing future best practice.

Safeguarding Adults Investigation Team

The SAIT team will be undergoing further staff modernisation in 2019. Two further Police Officers are being replaced with Police Staff investigators.
Recruitment is difficult due to the investigation skills required to manage serious and complex offences, the team will be an even split of police staff
and officers. To ensure sustainability of the team, an Adults AtRisk policy is being developed, to include the new adult MASH process and clarify the
purpose and remit of the team focusing on investigations with a perpetrator in a position of trust or authority.

Case Example

The SAIT team investigated an allegation of wilful neglect of a Swindon resident where two service users resided. During April 2018 a care worker was
witnessed to assault the victim by slapping him 3 times across the face. This was reported and on further enquiries with the witness it was established
that the care worker had committed other acts that amounted to wilful neglect of the victim. The Care Trust also initiated an investigation of the
remaining team members and found that their level of care fell below standard and were suspended. The offender was charged with wilful neglect and
is due in court on 24th June 2019. The rest of the team have been replaced.

Final

Page 32 of 62




Gy abed

Meeting LSAB Strategic Objectives

Mental Health

Frontline staff have received 2 day mental health training and other initiatives include a crisis café in Swindon and a safe place in the Wiltshire area.
Both of these have already received significant funding and the crisis café in Swindon is due to open shortly. Both services are focusing on prevention
with the aim of reducing demand by offering early intervention services in a timely manner to prevent those in need reaching crisis point and coming
to the attention of agencies. These initiatives are joint ventures between health services and the voluntary sector, providing both clinical and
supportive intervention. The expectation is that over time, these services will expand to provide a facility where those with mental health needs can
self-refer (as well as agencies referring in) so that overall demand is reduced.

Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking

14 detectives have now completed a four day modern slavery investigators course. Wiltshire Police recently hosted a training event for Senior
Investigating Officers regarding modern slavery investigations. To widen knowledge of this issue, West Midlands Police presented Operation Arkle
which was a county lines investigation in relation to a male exploiting child runners to deal class A drugs, they were also missing persons from their
own force areas. This presentation was attended by a range of teams within Wiltshire Police. It demonstrated a case study of a recent conviction of a
male for drug and modern slavery offences and demonstrated the impact that using modern slavery legislation has. He received a higher sentence for
those offences above the drug offences.

There have been a range of actions to improve awareness of human trafficking among officers so they have more operational guidance and toolkits to
explain the processes around referring victims into the national referral mechanism and how to deal with operations and victims. All the community
co-ordinators have been provided with training from the South West Regional Organised Crime Disruption Unit in terms of their abilities and powers to
carry out premises checks. The specialist crime department have recently carried out a successful operation into sexual exploitation and they are
seeking charging advice with a view to also obtaining a slavery and trafficking prevention order on conviction.

Final
Page 33 of 62



9t abed

Final

Mental Capacity Deprivation of Liberty (MCA DolLS)

MCA DolS relates to people who are placed in care homes or hospitals for their care or treatment and who lack mental capacity to consent. The
Safeguards protect their rights and make sure that any care that deprives a person of their liberty is both appropriate and in their best interests.

Currently MCA DoLS remain a key issue for local authorities both in relation to the current level of unassessed cases and the anticipated
introduction of Liberty Protection Safeguards (LPS): the date for this introduction is currently not before 1t October 2020 although due to the
substantial amount of implementation work needed across the health and social care sectors, there is a possibility of some further delay. Local
authorities will remain responsible for the authorisation of deprivation of liberty where people live in care homes and their duties will expand to
include referrals for significant numbers of people living in the community but NHS Trusts and CCG will take on the management of all health
funded referrals

Compared with the previous year’s referrals of 906, there has been an increase in MCA DolS referrals in 2018/19 to 1049, 516 from hospitals and
533 from care homes. With the increase and cases from previous years, we now have approximately 441 unassessed cases (414 in care homes and
27 hospitals). The team triages all referrals in keeping with Association of Directors of Adult Social Services (ADASS) recommendations and
prioritises those where the person (and sometimes their family) is objecting to where they live or the care they receive. This last year saw a marked
increase in Court of Protection cases where service users and their representatives challenge the circumstances of SBC DolLS Authorisations and we
are required to present detailed evidence to aid the Court in making their decision; this is a pattern seen nationally as well. It is positive that we are
finally seeing an upswing in Community Deprivation of Liberty applications to the Court of Protection for approval and this will also contribute to
preparation for the new Liberty Protection Safeguards (LPS).

Service pressures often restrict availability of in-house Best Interests Assessors to undertake assessments. We trained an additional 4 Best Interests
Assessors (BIAs) last year and 4 are training this coming year: this supports both current need and impact of the reform where many assessments
will be undertaken by the wider Adult Social Care Teams. The role of the BIA will be expanded and will be known as Approved Mental Capacity
Professional (AMCP); they will have a particular role in relation to service users who object to their residence for care and treatment. The local
authority will be responsible for approval of AMCPs in Swindon across all services as they are for Approved Mental Health Practitioners (AMHPs).

Page 34 of 62



/v abed

4.3. Swindon Carers Centre

Successes

e As an organisation we have now all had Adult Safeguarding training or are booked on this. This includes all service delivery staff, office-based staff,
volunteers with minimal carer contact and Trustees.

e Adult Safeguarding is now a standing agenda item on all practitioners’ supervisions as well as Management/Service Delivery & Adult Team meeting
agendas

e In November 2018 our Designated Safeguarding Lead for Adults and her deputy attended the ‘Safeguarding training for providers’ run by Wiltshire
& Swindon Care Skills Partnership, in conjunction with Swindon Borough Council. We have since rolled this out to support staff to understand that
Adult Safeguarding is about ‘Make Safeguarding Personal’ including discussing it not just when a possible safeguarding situation arose but also
during regular team meetings. This also informed our audit in late 2018/early 2019.

e The low number of actual referrals to the safeguarding team. 4 in total for the year April 2018/19 (1 in Qtr.1, 1 in Qtr.2, 2 in Qtr.3 and none in Qtr.

4)
Challenges
e Leading on/arranging the latest LSAB Sanford House Service Users forum.
e Supporting some of the longer serving staff members to recognise that Adult Safeguarding is now about MSP.
Case Study
During the registration of a carer to access SCC services the carer (aged 61) divulged that her son (29) who lived with the carer and her husband and
couldn’t be left alone as he had serious mental health issues and memory problems and his temperament is very volatile and aggressive and varies
from day to day. The carer added that she does not trust her son, does not feel safe and is especially worried about his aggressive behaviour towards
her husband. The carer said the situation is “really, really bad”, but cannot leave her son for his own safety.
The son was known to mental health services who had advised they call the police if things happen at home however, the carer reported she feels
reluctant to contact the police about their own son, in case things escalates further and he physically hurts one of them.
SCCinput:
Our practitioner was aware of the MSP and asked the carer for and obtained permission to contact the Adult Safeguarding team about this issue for
advice. A phone call was made and following this conversation, a referral form was completed and sent to safeguarding team. We then had a call back
from the safeguarding team to say that they had contacted AWP and the early intervention team would take this up. The safeguarding team had also
been in touch with the carer and given her the phone number for crisis team and a contact name and number in the police. We also had a call in from
staff at AWP to inform us that the early intervention team would be contacting the carer

Final

Page 35 of 62




81 abed

Meeting LSAB Strategic Objectives

e We now have 2 x Adult Deputy Safeguarding leads to support the DSL so that all working hours are covered. This also gives us excellent succession
planning. The 2 deputies will also cover the DSL at the LSAB meetings if he is unable to attend.

e We also now have safeguarding leads on our trustee’s board.

e We have our Vulnerable Adults and Children’s policies in both normal and easy read versions, our safer recruitment policy available online.

e Links to the LSAB, SBC Adults Safeguarding page and LSCB are available for all carers and members of the public from our own website.

e The DSL’s for Adults and Children are working closely together. Recently both attended the Joint LSAB/LSCB Event — (New Multi-agency
Safeguarding Arrangements) as well as both attending the last LSAB meeting. This has enabled us as an organisation to make sure young carers and
young adult carers transitioning to Adult Services are not lost with regard to safeguarding.

e Information and any training are disseminated to all staff, volunteers and trustees the DSL or deputies receive from the LSAB or safeguarding team.

e The LSAB flow chart for raising a safeguarding concern & the threshold for access to Safeguarding is prominent all around our office.

e InFeb 2019 we achieved the NCO Trusted charity award via thorough inspection including our safeguarding practices.

4.4. Swindon Advocacy Movement

Successes

SAM has provided advocacy for 41 adult safeguarding section 42 enquiries to ensure individual’s voice is central to process and we have worked closely

with the Safeguarding Team to ensure accessibility to the service. This has been very successful. As part of our Independent Advocacy Quality

Assurance assessment we have been informed by NDTi (National Development Team for Inclusion) that Swindon is taking a national lead ensuring that

service users get advocacy support through safeguarding procedures as entitled under The Care Act. Successful outcomes for people include:

e Aclient who wished to leave their coercive and controlling home after 19 years moved into their own independent flat after going through the
safeguarding process.

e C(lient was enabled to understand a Root Cause Analysis process under Safeguarding with Easy Read documentation provided by advocate and had
a voice through difficult process.

Challenges

Safeguarding around elderly people subject to domestic abuse has been a priority for SAM since the SCIE report being published and attending the
Quality Audit groups. We have had an increasing number of referrals of this nature under the Care Act recently. In response we have made good links
with Lin Williams SBC Domestic Abuse and have provided awareness raising training.

Final

Page 36 of 62



61 abed

Case study

Jane* aged 19 with High Functioning Autism was a victim of sexual exploitation from a man she initially met online and then met in person. She initially
made a disclosure whilst at college but had difficulty talking to anyone about it. The advocate enabled her to share her experience with others, ask
guestions about the safeguarding process and express her own concerns, fears and wishes.

The investigation and support process took over a year and involved many meetings with professionals from the police, social work team, education
and SARC. The advocate worked with Jane to prepare her for safeguarding enquiry meetings; introducing her to the Chair, to the location and getting
guestions to her in advance. Jane wrote down lengthy detailed statements and attended meetings to listen as her advocate read out the statements.
The police conducted a lengthy investigation but decided the enquiry couldn’t progress to CPS. Jane is very disappointed with this but the safeguarding
process has had positive outcomes for her. She now understands how to manage risks she may face, she is less fearful and is developing greater
independence. She also has a better support network around her, including a SARC worker, who understands her individual vulnerabilities.

Meeting LSAB Strategic Objectives
We enable clients to be part of their own safeguarding plan. We provide either a one page profile if the client has capacity around the MSP principles
or a non-instructed advocacy report for those who lack capacity to inform views wishes and feelings and considerations for the client. We also sit on

the Quality Assurance sub-group of the board and have contributed in depth to Quality Assurance audits to ensure that the service users experience is

included.

4.5. Great Western Hospital NHS Foundation Trust (GWH NHSFT)

Successes

e Delivery of the internal Trust Adult Safeguarding and Mental Capacity Act (MCA)/Mental Health Act (MHA) work plans for 2018 — 2019

e Level 1and Level 2 Safeguarding and MCA training modules reviewed and aligned to the ‘UK Core Skills Training Framework’ (CSTF)

e All safeguarding adults electronic resources reviewed and updated in line with national and local requirements

e Multi-agency referral form (Form 75) template revised to strengthen the Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) section

e Changes to the Homelessness Reduction Act (2017) introducing a ‘Duty to Refer’ mandate for the Trust. Stand-alone guidance for staff has been
developed, published and rolled out across the Trust

e New Trust-Wide Domestic abuse policy developed and ratified. This policy is integrated with Wiltshire Health and Care and Swindon Community
Health Services and launched in May 2018

e Acute and Swindon Community Health Services policies and processes aligned

e Delivery of a face to face training programme for Community Services (Including the Walk in Centre — Swindon)

Final

Page 37 of 62



0G obed

Quality Improvement (Ql) project undertaken for SwICC

Work undertaken to embed the use of an internally produced Best Interest Resource Pack for use by all relevant patient facing roles
Safeguarding Adults at Risk Operational Group is now well established; Is supporting the delivery of best practice in adult safeguarding, and is
empowering others to act

Bespoke training to clinical areas, including 1:1 supervision and support

Continuation of student placements within the core Adult Safeguarding Team and wider ‘spoke and hub’ opportunities

Contribution to, and engagement in, case reviews and learning events

Assisted in the creation and pilot of Ward Accreditation Achievement Framework (WAAF) achievement guide/pack

NICE Guidance - decision-making and mental capacity (NG 108) launched October 2018 baseline benchmark mapping complete — identifying 74% of
recommendation have been achieved. A delivery action plan has been developed

Intercollegiate document published October 2018, plans have been started to implement a plan for Level 1 -6 competency based training
Completion of LSAB self-assessment focusing on the principle of ‘prevention’ and LSAB audit in relation to ‘Financial abuse’ and ‘Self neglect’
New internal Trust ‘Safeguarding Ql Review Programme’ audit process has been developed. The programme will enable ‘real time reporting’. This
will encompass all audits under the Safeguarding Adult team remit. The audit will be trialled in April 2019

Safeguarding Adults policy reviewed and ratified March 2019

All safeguarding staff resources reviewed and refreshed to reflect changes to electronic secure referral processes

Staff Learning Disability Practice guidance ratified and made live March 2019

Learning Disability Education Toolkit launch nationally and Trust-wide

Production of staff guidance on the new substance misuse and alcohol liaison services, including updated safe methadone prescription guidance

Challenges

Final

There is an expediential increase in demand for the Adult Safeguarding and MCA services

Proposed changes of the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DolLS) to ‘Liberty Protection Safeguards (LPS)’ legislation. There is no anticipated central
funding attached to this forward increase in DoLS (LPS) responsibility for the Trust

There is no central Government funding available to support NHS Trusts to comply with the NHSi Learning Disability and Autistic Spectrum
Improvement Standards (2018)

Information sharing (lack of joined up IT systems) across services and the multi- disciplinary teams to support risk reduction

Training compliance in relation to staff turnover of staff, with particular challenges in relation to medical colleagues.

Page 38 of 62



TG abed

GWH Training in 2018/2019

2018/19 Mandatory Training Compliance

100.00%
80.00% —
60.00% Safeguarding Adults
40.00% Level 1
20.00%

Safeguarding Adults
Level 2

0.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Prevent: the overarching e-learning mandatory training for all staff 2018/19

2018/2019 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
Total number of staff in the Trust who are 4189 | 4171 | 4251 | 4198
up to date with Basic Prevent

Training(BPAT)
Number of staff in the Trust who are 130 127 130 128
compliant with Level 3 (WRAP) training
Case Study
GWH NHSFT Adult Safeguarding team managed a case where there was clear potential for coercion / control and sexual abuse. A multi—agency
response was triggered involving all services, and the victim was effectively managed appropriately under the provision of the Mental Health Act, which
allowed for an effective mental health treatment plan to be implemented.
In this case, Safeguarding Adults Team at the Trust worked closely with the respective authority to ensure all agencies were involved in care
management to mitigate the presenting risks. The safeguarding safety plan provided an overarching management plan, involving all agencies which
ensured risks were effectively mitigated and reduced. The patient was made central to this process, ensuring their wishes and feelings were carefully
considered.
The patient was critically unwell at point of referral and due to multi-agency working has stabilised and is now continuing their personal recovery.
Medical observations have since indicated that the patient is both physically and mentally much improved and has been recorded as being ‘a different
person’ to the one they met during the patient’s admission in the summer 2018. This is an excellent example of multi —agency working underpinned by
clear coordination across all agencies involved.

Final

Page 39 of 62



2s abed

4.6. Public Health Swindon

Successes

Safeguarding adults is a key priority for the Public Health Directorate. The Trading Standards Service’s top priority remains to protect vulnerable
consumers. This includes identifying repeat victims of scams and rogue traders and working to prevent further financial abuse. During 2018/19 we
saved or obtained redress amounting to £49,000 for Swindon consumers — the majority of whom were vulnerable. We have continued to work in
partnership with other teams and organisations to support vulnerable consumers.

The Community Health and Wellbeing Team see and deal with safeguarding concerns on a weekly basis, take all concerns seriously. Good processes
are in place. We all participate in training and are keen to work with expert colleagues to extend our competence and confidence. We log every
concern, regardless of how small and track actions and outcomes. We regularly review these at team meetings to reflect on our practice and inform
future decision making. All permanent members of the team have received Adult Safeguarding training.

Challenges
Both the Trading Standards and Community Health and Wellbeing teams have been subject to reorganisation this year resulting in a reduction in staff
and post vacancies awaiting recruitment. This has led to pressures on staff but safeguarding has remained central to service delivery.

On occasions, staff have found it challenging to understand the safeguarding decision making process, and would welcome the opportunity to better
understand how we can liaise with the safeguarding team to reduce the number of inappropriate referrals. We have seen an increasing number of
clients who have raised safeguarding concerns with regard to self-neglect. Further work is required with regard to preventing those who may not quite
require safeguarding at present but are at increasing risk from harm. It would be helpful for training to be available which could be more explicit in
relation to levels of self-neglect.

Case Example

During November 2018 we received a notification from our national helpline that advice had been given to Swindon man, J. J had paid a large amount
to a national building firm but was unhappy about the work carried out. Because of the age of the man and his apparent vulnerability we set up
arranged an appointment at our offices. We were able to intervene in the dispute and negotiate with the company on J’s behalf resulting in a refund of
an overpayment and compensation for unsatisfactory work. Dealings and conversations with J raised further concerns about his situation, health and
ability to cope so an appointment was made to visit him at home.

It was discovered that J was struggling at home with little support and a house in disrepair which was leading to J being overwhelmed. In discussion
with J he agreed to our offer to assistance with essential repairs and equipment. A Bobby Van visit was arranged as was a referral to Homeline and to

Final

Page 40 of 62




€g abed

the Community Health and Wellbeing Team who have helped and continue to help with a number of issues including income maximisation and
befriending.

4.7. Dorset and Wiltshire Fire and Rescue Service

Successes

In a recent HMICFRS (Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary & Fire and Rescue Services) inspection DWFRS received a rating of ‘Good’ in all three
core areas: effectiveness, efficiency and how well we look after our people. Feedback was positive around safeguarding training and reported staff had
a good understanding of how to identify children and adults at risk from exploitation or abuse and how to make a safeguarding referral, when they
need to.

A survey was circulated to all front facing staff to see if safeguarding has been embedded. Results were reviewed and indicated safeguarding is very
much embedded with a 99% positive outcome.

We are taking part in a national pilot with the NFCC (National Fire Chiefs Council) on discharge teams with the British Red Cross — only 3 Fire Services

are involved in this pilot. Looking to increase knowledge of community risk, share resources and increase targeting of vulnerable people.

We have analysed prevention work undertaken by operational crews with a view to increasing the number of vulnerable people reached.

Targeting of domestic properties with high number of AFA’s (Automatic Fire Alarms) has taken place as these are more likely to be vulnerable people.
A Fatal Fire Conference was held where we reviewed 3 fatal fires. From these we are looking to extend our targeting into Hospital Discharge Teams
due to the frequent links between those involved being recently discharged.

Challenges

Finding support for cases that do not meet the 3-point check but are in need of some positive intervention. Especially when there is severe hoarding.
Raising the profile of FRS in the safeguarding arena, and that we do so much more than put out fires. We are often not considered by agencies when
there are fire risks.

Meeting LSAB Strategic Objectives

As a non-statutory organisation we have more than met the objective. The HMIC report and survey referred to above reflect training is going well. We
are second to none in the Prevention work we carry out and there is no doubt we save many lives through our prevention and education work.

Final

Page 41 of 62



G obed

MSP - the referral form we use to raise safeguarding concerns was recently amended to add the question, what would the person like to happen?
However, as we are a sign posting organisation and often do not see the people we refer again it is hard to say if MSP was achieved.

4.8. South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (SWAST)
Owing to the number of Boards that SWAST feed into across the region, an individual return from them is not available. They produce an annual report

specifically about safeguarding (including children) and this can be found by following this link:
https://www.swast.nhs.uk/assets/1/swasftsafeguarding service annual report2018-19.pdf

4.9. NHS England and NHS Improvement — This report, prepared by Penny Smith Regional Head of Safeguarding - South West has been provided to all
Boards and Partnerships in the South West Region.

Introduction

NHS England are focused on developing and maintaining strong safeguarding partnerships across health and social care to enhance the way we
protect, support and improve the lives of those at risk in our local communities. We must always be thinking about the challenges that lie ahead. The
safeguarding agenda is continuously developing, in both its complexity and scope, our priorities must also evolve. With this focus we have identified
our safeguarding priorities for 2019/20 at the end of this document.

NHS England and NHS Improvement remain committed to working with our multi-agency partners to ensure that the interests of those at risk inform

our decision making and that health organisations not only meet their legislative obligations, they are also listening to the voices of communities as
well as those caring for them both professionally and in a caring, voluntary capacity.

NHS England and NHS Improvement Key Achievements:

e Annual conference held in September 2018, over 100 delegates from across the region attended. The focus of the day was exploitation and we

welcomed a range of speakers with specialist knowledge in County Lines, Prevent, Domestic Abuse and Modern Slavery. Feedback from the
delegates was very positive.

e Health Network developments across the South West. These networks brought Clinical Commissioning Group safeguarding leadership teams

together to creating a community of practice and peer support. Key priorities for the network meetings were to review the challenges across their

Final

Page 42 of 62


https://www.swast.nhs.uk/assets/1/swasftsafeguarding_service_annual_report2018-19.pdf

GG abed

4.10

Final

local areas, what priorities are evident to them and to support collaboration and successes in their safeguarding work, and opportunities for
learning from each other’s good practice.

A safeguarding General Practice audit tool has been developed. Dorset have taken a lead on this work and this has received good feedback from
General Practice participants.

South West Prevent workshop in March 2019 was well attended by partners from North and South. Supported by guest speakers from the Home
Office and Police, attendees had the opportunity to work through Prevent issues local to them and to hear the journey of restorative care and
support provided by the Home Office. Further workshops are planned for 2019/20.

South Region Named GP Safeguarding Forum - the initial forum was convened in March and brought contribution from partners across the South. A
very well attended event with over 30 Named GPs present. Further plans include a South West/South East forum in 6 months and a further pan
South event in March 2020. Feedback from the event was very positive.

A South West South rapid improvement event in November brought health and care partners together to identify challenges and areas of
improvement in discharge planning and transfer of care for children and young people. Partners identified areas of good practice and shared
learning and collaborated across their local areas.

NHS England South (South West) team supported Devon safeguarding multi-agency partners to create a short film to support General Practice
safeguarding.

The South West safeguarding team have worked in partnership with the NHS England and NHS Improvement National Safeguarding Team and local
safeguarding partners to support the delivery of the national safeguarding priorities across the South West, and to support the networking of
professionals across England to ensure sharing of best practice and learning from risks and issues.

The South West safeguarding networks have worked with Primary Care to support the awareness of domestic abuse/violence.

A strong focus on learning from cases both nationally and locally has been an ongoing theme in the work of the safeguarding networks. Learning
from both child and adult reviews, has supported development of health and care systems across the South West.

NHS England South (South West) team worked closely with local representative committees in Primary Care to raise the profile of safeguarding and
identify any local or regional learning needs for Primary Care providers.

Swindon Community Safety Partnership

Successes

Risk Management Panel

The Community Safety Partnership combined the Risk Enablement Panel (detailed above) and the CSP Community MARAC in into a Risk
Management Panel in January 2019. The CSP Community MARAC allowed an escalation for complex high risk domestic abuse cases from MARAC as
well as other complex cases that did not meet the criteria for the REP. The strong links to Adult Services have remained through the transition to

Page 43 of 62



9g abed

CSP and the Panel continues to have significant successes, including obtaining a Civil Injunction against one of Swindon’s most prolific Domestic
Abuse perpetrators.

Closure Orders

In conjunction with Housing and Wiltshire Police, the CSP team has obtained a number of Closure Orders this year. There has been a focus on
making use of Partial Closure Orders in cases of the ‘cuckooing’ of vulnerable people by County Lines drug dealers. These Orders allow the
vulnerable resident to remain in the property whilst removing those who put them at risk.

Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking

The CSP team co-ordinated a Reception Centre response for a number of women trafficked into sex working; supporting a police operation. This
was the first use of the model in Swindon that brings together support agencies and provides a place of safety to victims of Modern Slavery and
Human Trafficking in order to address immediate concerns and support a long-term aim to remove the victims from their situation.

Domestic Abuse and VAWG
Coercive Control training will be delivered in November 2019. Two half day sessions are fully booked. Training specifically for Adult Services is
being arranged for early 2020.
HBV, FM and FGM training continues to be delivered and the dates for next year are being planned for April and October. Female Genital
Mutilation specific training will also be offered.
A new Health IDVA (Independent Domestic Violence Advisor) is now in post at Great Western Hospital. The IDVA will be available every week day
to meet with victims and to support staff across ED, Maternity, Sexual Health and the wards.
An IDVA to support victims from the LGBTQ community is also in post with Swindon Domestic Abuse Support Service.
Challenges
Risk Management Panel
Despite the successes noted above, the Risk Management Panel struggles to manage the volume of complex referrals made to the team. These are
very complex cases that often require immediate intervention and co-ordination of agencies to support vulnerable people with multiple needs and
risks. This has led to several reviews of the RMP processes and some delays in providing the necessary support.

Final

Page 44 of 62



/G abed

Channel/Prevent

The Prevent Agenda and Channel Panels are a statutory responsibility of the local authority, managed on SBC’s behalf by the CSP. There is always
good engagement from partners but this is a resource intensive area of business. The service is currently under review by CSP with support from
the Home Office and The South West Counter-Terrorism Unit.

Knife Crime

Following the government support for a public health approach to tackling knife crime, CSP is now part of a pan-Wiltshire Violent Crime Executive
Board that is designed to explore and develop an approach that is best suited to Swindon and Wiltshire. This approach will learn from the
significant success of the ‘Glasgow model’ in reducing violent crime but with a structure that meets the needs of Swindon and Wiltshire. This will
not be a quick fix and will require significant investment and patience.

4.11 Swindon Borough Council Housing

Successes and Challenges
The notes below describe the services that Swindon Housing Services provide, where safeguarding referrals have been made and the challenges
that have arisen.

Housing plays a significant part in the community in protecting and safeguarding adults who live in the borough. With a housing stock of 10,300
including 1,370 sheltered flats for older people, we provide services to a significant number of vulnerable persons. In addition Housing provide
specialist services and accommodation which assist vulnerable adults and help to keep them safe.

The 2018/19 Temporary Winter Housing Provision assisted 17 people who are rough sleepers to have a warm bed for the night during the coldest
part of the year. In addition they were able to access specialist support and health services. A number of these individuals were successfully moved
on to longer term accommodation at the end of the project

Housing First scheme have provided accommodation for 15 chaotic rough sleepers. These residents are able to access daily support and health
services. One client’s case has been referred to safeguarding.

The Haven is a new rough sleeper day centre which commenced Dec 2018, where users receive meals, health care and support.

All the above services proactively assist potentially vulnerable persons and help to prevent more serious crises that need an emergency response.
In addition Housing have recruited Rough Sleeping Navigators and Floating Support workers.

Final
Page 45 of 62



8G abed

Final

Adult Social Care Housing — Housing have provided a number of properties that are used by Adult Social Care clients. These include Firethorn Close
and shared houses. These tenancies have resulted in housing officers developing greater knowledge and expertise around mental capacity and
creating tenancies for this client group.

Homeline and Homeline plus - Over 3,500 residents are connected to Homeline including over 280 who receive telecare services. During April 2019
Homeline staff attended 360 incidents where the person had to be lifted or moved and 55 calls required the assistance of medical /care staff. This
24/7 service helps to protect and assist many vulnerable persons and staff regularly alert colleagues in adult social care when they find a person
who needs assistance.

Sheltered Housing - The majority of safeguarding referrals from Housing originate from Sheltered Housing. These are triggered because of concerns
about tenants, as they become older and frailer as they struggle to live independently, relatives fail to manage the finances of vulnerable residents
or because of financial abuse. Sheltered Housing Officers had refresher training about safeguarding in March 2019

Fire - Housing Officers are alert to identifying residents who are found to present a high fire risk. During the last year Housing staff have had
refresher training about identifying residents who appear to be a high fire risk. Where cases are identified (typically, smoking, hoarding and cooker
fires) Housing work jointly with Dorset and Wiltshire Fire and Rescue Service to reduce and monitor the risk that a person poses to themselves and
their neighbours.

Home Safety Checks - The majority of our properties have to have a mandatory annual gas safety check. If during a visit, the gas engineer finds
issues that are a cause for concern they will alert their manager and this will result in a follow up by tenancy services. Concerns that they find
include personal neglect, hoarding and financial hardship.

Tenant Money Advisers - In March 2018 Housing appointed 2 advisers. Their role primarily is to assist tenants to claim Universal Credit. Some
clients are found to be vulnerable and have difficulty interacting with service providers and as a result struggle financially or are found to be the
victims of financial abuse, triggering safeguarding referrals.

REPs - Housing Staff make a significant contribution to the REP process as the provision of secure accommodation for vulnerable or chaotic
individuals plays a vital part in supporting clients. These cases are some of the most challenging and difficult that staff have to deal with.

Domestic Abuse - An additional Domestic Abuse Housing Options Officer (DAHO) has been recruited to assist with advising victims of domestic
abuse on their housing situation and ensuring that homelessness can be prevented for many victims. The 2 DAHOs attend MARAC and work closely

Page 46 of 62



with Swindon Domestic Abuse Service. A Park North man was evicted after his partner fled Swindon due to domestic abuse. The man was living in
the house alone and would not move out so the Council went to court and obtained an order forcing him to leave.

Case study Swindon Borough Council Housing

In December 2018 Housing obtained a six month injunction banning Mr X from having contact
with his mother. Following discharge from hospital she first lived in a Pathway flat and was then
offered a permanent tenancy in sheltered flat. Housing Officers provided statements for legal
services to make the application on behalf of the Council. Mr X continued to exploit his mother.
The Housing department was successful in the injunction to protect the mother and her son has
now stayed away from her property and she is safe

4.12 Swindon Borough Council Adult Social Care — Older People with Physical Disabilities

6G abed

Successes

Good working relationship with Adult Safeguarding Team, including secondment of one team member from Initial Contact Team.
Allocation of Enquiry Officers when required

Managers / Senior Practitioners (including Occupational Therapists) have completed Enquiry Manager training

Practitioners undertook Enquiry Officer training

Challenges

Balancing demand of competing priorities and risks of both case management and safeguarding enquiries, within available resources. This has
led to occasional delays in allocating an Enquiry Officer.

Meeting LSAB Objectives

Final

All staff are trained to the appropriate level.

MSP —the safeguarding enquiries are conducted in a person centred way and staff are mindful of the importance of seeking, including and
respecting the views of the person. Staff recognise their legal duties around advocacy.

Supervision and team meetings are regularly used as a method of reflecting upon learning, in particular in relation to MSP and safeguarding.
The strength based approach to practice which is being encouraged throughout all our work will be applied within Safeguarding Enquiries also.

Page 47 of 62



Case Study Swindon Borough Council Adult Social Care, Older People with Physical Disabilities

Mrs S is 83 years old, and lives in a nursing home in Swindon funded by Swindon CCG
Continuing Health Care. She has a diagnosis of advanced dementia and had been living with her
husband prior to being discharged from hospital into the nursing home. Mr S (Husband) had
been struggling to cope with supporting Mrs S at home but was also finding it difficult to accept
that she was not returning home. Swindon Advocacy Movement was involved due to a 21A
challenge.

A safeguarding concern was raised by the nursing home following an incident where Mrs S was
“physically and verbally assaulted” by her husband when were together in her room.

In regards to this safeguarding concern the care home had contacted the police immediately
and Mr S agreed to not visit again until he had been seen by the police. The police interviewed
Mr S who said that he pushed his wife in response to her shouting at him and hitting and
scratching him. The police made the decision not to take any further action. The care home, in
consultation with the safeguarding team, CHC team and Mr S agreed that his visits to the home
would be supervised, as a short-term arrangement. The adult social care enquiry officer
established by meeting with Mrs S that she had no understanding of the incident. A multi-
agency safeguarding planning meeting established support for Mr S to support him in
recognising the stress his wife’s deteriorating dementia had caused him. Professionals worked
with Mr S for the next few weeks in developing successful coping strategies in understanding
and dealing with dementia. The relationship between the couple improved substantially.

09 abed

Due to the continued discussions, input and understanding of Mrs S’s and her husband’s needs
by all parties concerned with the safeguarding enquiry, Mrs S has been able to continue to have
contact with her husband and remain at the care home where her needs are being
appropriately met.

Final
Page 48 of 62



4.13 Swindon Borough Council Learning Disability and Transitions Services

Successes

e Positive relationship with Adult Safeguarding Team

e Prompt allocation of LD / Transitions Enquiry Officers

e Managers / Senior Practitioners completed Enquiry Manager training

e The Team undertook Enquiry Officer training

e Enquiry Officer received a compliment for the quality of the Enquiry Officer report she completed.

Challenges

e Balancing demand of competing priorities of case management and safeguarding enquiries.

e Managers note that the greater risks are not always applicable to safeguarding cases and it’s very important to pay attention business as usual
which includes Care Act assessments and reviews, of which preventative safeguarding work is an important aspect.

Meeting LSAB Objectives

e As stated all staff have had safeguarding training to the appropriate level. This is also considered for all new staff.

e MSP - the safeguarding enquiries are conducted in a person centred way and staff are mindful of the importance of seeking, including and
respecting the views of the person. Staff recognise the importance of and regularly refer to the advocacy service.

e Supervision and team meetings are regularly used as a method of reflecting upon learning.

T9 abed

Case study Swindon Borough Council Learning Disability

Safeguarding concern relates to Mary aged 50 who has a learning disability and behavioural
difficulties. Mary lives in supported living accommodation. Mary had a Social Worker from the
Learning Disability Team. A safeguarding concern was raised by the manager of the supported
living accommodation because of unexplained bruising on Mary’s thighs. A female Police officer
who attended concluded that the marks were consistent with the restraint techniques. The
Manager also confirmed to the social worker that she thought the bruises were caused by poor
manual handling techniques.

Final
Page 49 of 62



29 abed

The social worker undertook a capacity assessment and established through this that Mary was
unable to express how the bruising had occurred or about her views or feelings in relation to
this engage in or understand the Safeguarding process. The social worker conducted a thorough
investigation with the care staff and records. In line with the Safeguarding Principles it was
considered that continuing to reside at her current accommodation was the least restrictive
option and also preventing Mary from becoming distressed. In coming to this decision the social
worker had also considered information from the GP and the Police and had also sought the
guidance of the Enquiry Manager. A multi-agency safeguarding plan was established which
included unannounced visits to the accommodation, increased training and supervision of staff
including agency staff. The outcome of the implementation of the safeguarding plan was that
Mary continues to live in her accommodation, additional training and monitoring has been
implemented and no further incidents have been identified

4.14 National Probation Service
Successes
The National Probation Service in Swindon attends and contributes to every MARAC. The service also makes referrals to MARAC and plays an active
role in working with partners across the Domestic Abuse sub groups. This year, the NPS has been a representative on one DHR as a panel member.
The NPS therefore contributed to the recommendations. Additionally, the NPS noted the learning from this and shared across the agency which
has contributed to the continual development of staff in regard to adult safeguarding.
Challenges
On occasions this year, a challenge for the NPS in Swindon has been resourcing however our record of partnership working with other agencies to
safeguard adults is positive and effective. Positively, the NPS attracts a relatively high number of learners.

Final

Page 50 of 62



Case study

A Probation Officer discovered there were some serious safeguarding concerns regarding
a girlfriend (Abbey; not her real name) of a man who was being supervised by the NPS. As
soon as the Probation Officer realised Adult Social Care were involved, attempts were
made to secure an invite to a meeting which was scheduled. NPS raised their concerns
that they had not been invited as NPS were a necessary participant given the information
that the service held on the alleged harm-causer and the statutory duty they had to
manage his risks of harm. Following swift contact with Adult Social Care, an invite was
forthcoming and NPS attended the safeguarding meeting. The Probation Officer is now in
regular liaison with the agencies involved with Abbey and a professional’s team has been
placed around Abbey. Adult Social Care now attend the multi-agency public protection
arrangement meetings, which are focused on minimising the harm identified by the
alleged perpetrator to ensure positive safeguarding.

Meeting LSAB Objectives

The NPS provides e-learning and classroom learning for all staff in relation to safeguarding adults; this forms part of induction training for staff and
we expect our more experienced staff to attend for refresher training every 3 years. A risk assessment, using a nationally approved risk assessment
tool is completed for all of our service users; this is tailored to the individual and identifies areas for intervention to provide public

protection. These assessments enable the NPS work appropriately with partners to safeguard our service users and those at threat of harm from
them. Our work with individuals through offender management provides a rehabilitative framework encouraging service users to take
responsibility for their own behaviours and needs, underpinned by a rigorous risk management and sentence plan. In appropriate circumstances,
NPS service users engage in Restorative Justice activities to support adult safeguarding.

€9 abed

Final
Page 51 of 62



9 abed

4.15 Healthwatch Swindon

Successes and Challenges

Healthwatch attempted to facilitate a Safeguarding Adults Board User Forum jointly with Swindon Carers Centre. The purpose was to gather the
service users of various partners in Sanford House to facilitate a joint service users group, with the idea that Healthwatch would gather feedback
from them regarding the safeguarding process. One session was successfully run, albeit only with the service users of Swindon Advocacy
Movement (SAM). Voluntary sector partners within Sanford House felt that each set of service users have their own needs, so it didn’t appeal to
them to join a group being run outside of this. At the last meeting, the topic was Safety in the Community. Community Police Officers were
present, with Swindon Borough Council Safeguarding staff, and Swindon Carers Centre. No service users attended. It was decided not to continue
with this.

e Meeting LSAB Objectives
Healthwatch staff have the relevant safeguarding training appropriate to their job roles and policies and procedures are in place should a
safeguarding incident occur.

4,16 Avon & Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership

This reported period commenced with a review of AWP corporate services and the Safeguarding Team were subjected to reorganisation. A
number of experienced staff left the team and the number of senior posts were reduced. The Safeguarding portfolio moved to the Associate
Director Nursing in September 2018.

The Director of Nursing (DoN) concluded an assessment of the safeguarding arrangements and informed the AWP Board and Chairs of
Safeguarding Boards of her concerns relating to gaps in assurance.

The 2018 CQC Report also found that there were inconsistencies in the reporting of safeguarding incidents through the incident
reporting system.

Successes:

e Appointment of a Head of Safeguarding In November 2018. After a period of induction the Head of Safeguarding completed a
comprehensive assessment of the form and function of Safeguarding with the Trust. The findings concurred with those of the
DoN.

Final
Page 52 of 62



G9 abed

A comprehensive programme of improvement was developed and commenced in December 2018.
New reporting process from January 2019 providing central oversight of total number of referrals made for the first time
Improved senior attendance at safeguarding board meetings

Introduction of a Safeguarding Management group reporting to Quality Safety Risk and Assurance Group

The 2018 CQC Report identified that staff had a good knowledge of safeguarding processes and reporting safeguarding incidents.

The Safeguarding Management Group was established (January 2019). This group reports to the Quality Safety Risk Assurance Group.

The HoS sits on the Mental Health Legislation Management Group.

Members of the Safeguarding team regularly participate in the Patient Incidents reviewing meeting and the RCA Ratification meetings.

Challenges:

Final

To compensate for vacancies and absences, team resources have been prioritised to support frontline work. As a consequence the ability to
progress the improvement programme has been limited. Affected projects include the development of an effective system to oversee all high-level
investigations and the implementation improved and efficient recording systems.

Working across 6 local authority areas with competing demands for high priority partnership meetings

Staff are required to utilise multiple safeguarding procedures and process

Multiple recording systems

CQC found inconsistencies in the reporting of safeguarding incidents through the incident reporting system.
Training provider served notice with effect from March 2019.

Training matrix / strategy review required which will adversely affect training compliance figures.

Page 53 of 62


https://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/new_reports/AAAH7215.pdf

99 abed

5. LSAB and Sub-groups

The Board met on four occasions and was well attended (see Appendix 2). Board members have now committed to consistent attendance at future
meetings. The Sub-groups of the Board were quorate. The Sub-groups include:

e The Chairs Group
Organised the work of the Board and checked on progress of individual sub-groups

e Policy & Procedures
Directed the review and development of new and revised policy, procedures and guidance

e Quality Assurance
Developed a framework to complete themed audits and self-assessments to ensure adherence to policy and good practice and identify areas of
learning

e Learning, Review & Development
Consideration of cases for Safeguarding Adult Reviews and looked at learning from other national and local reviews

e Learning & Development Group
This was previously a joint group with Wiltshire that during the year agreed on a different approach (virtual meetings and annual summit). A new
forum for this area of work will be developed as part of the new arrangements

6. Intent and Future Plans for Swindon Safeguarding Partnership
Priorities for 2019/20

One of the statutory requirements for the Board as a result of the Care Act is to produce a Strategic Plan. On the 1%t April 2019 a Partnership Event took
place engaging with all partners of the Adult’s and Children’s boards. This highlighted the areas of priority, and behaviours expected of all members and
agreed what partners want to achieve by developing a new Safeguarding Partnership.

Final
Page 54 of 62



19 abed

Strategic Priority 1 - Effective Governance

We will develop the capacity of Swindon LSAB and its infrastructure to effectively deliver the core functions of the Board to help keep adults with care
and support needs in Swindon safe

At the event on 1% April, it was agreed that partners have a shared responsibility for the protection of children and adults at risk and collaborate in
delivering improved outcomes for everyone and that partners need to be confident enough to challenge effectively without blame. It was agreed that
there needed to be established behaviours to ensure that the purpose of the safeguarding partnership is fulfilled. As well as concerning itself with day to
day safety, protection and safeguarding issues the event discussed the need to develop its standing in the community and be ambitious in its future goals
and this needs communicating with the staff of partnership members and the wider community.

With the new structure, there will be an Executive Board that will bring Children’s and Adult Safeguarding together. A Delivery Group is in place to bring
the new structure together. Separate Boards will be in place, the Safeguarding Adults Board and the Safeguarding Children’s Partnership. There will be
sub-groups of both Boards some of which will be joint groups:

e Policy and Procedures;

e Practice Review Group (to consider the need to safeguarding reviews or serious case reviews);

e Communications and Engagement; and

e Practice Development Group (to deal with Learning and Development requirements of all partners)

There will be a Performance and Quality Group for each of the Boards due to the complexity of the tasks involved.

SAR Guidance

The SAR guidance requires updating to provide more detail on the application process, including how information should be gathered prior to the decision
making on whether to carrying out a review and identifying who will make these decisions. There also needs to be an appeal process where the referrer
disputes the decision made by the Board or the Practice Review Group.

Final
Page 55 of 62



89 abed

Strategic Priority 2 - Performance and Quality

We will ensure that there are effective multi-agency quality assurance and performance management processes in place which will promote the
welfare of adults with care and support needs and will hold partners to account

Quality Assurance

The Quality Assurance Framework will need to be updated together with a new or revised work plan for the coming year. The new sub-group,
incorporating performance, will be agreeing new terms of reference and a process to evaluate cases for audit and identify thematic audits for members of
the Board to contribute. The plan is to evaluate how agencies address the government priorities of which “prevention” was the first such self-assessment
audit.

Self-Neglect

The increase in the number of referrals concerning self-neglect is of concern and most do not require action from the Safeguarding team. Often these
cases are forwarded to the Adult Social Work teams and work is required to ensure that appropriate action is taken by those teams. The Safeguarding
team will be carrying out an audit and arranging a facilitated “summit” involving all the Adult Social Care teams to discuss the processes once self-neglect

cases are forwarded to the care teams. They will also refer to repeat concerns and consider whether action is required to escalate matters. For example,
have protective measures been put in place? And if so, have they been only temporary fixes for the individual.
Data

Adult Services has developed a new care management IT system with an aim that data around safeguarding will be collected automatically. Further work is
required to ensure that data required for the national safeguarding return, the Board and the Performance and Quality Group is accurate and available in a
format that helps identify trends, assist with quality audits and demonstrates the outcomes for the individual. Senior managers from Adult Services are
working on redesigning the system with the supplier and will update the Board on progress.

Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH)
Adult Services is in discussion with relevant partners on the feasibility of developing a MASH. A business case is being developed and will be presented to
senior managers within the Local Authority.

Final
Page 56 of 62



69 abed

Strategic Priority 3 - Communication and Engagement

We will ensure there is a consistent and co-ordinated approach to how the safeguarding message for adults is disseminated to all groups and
communities in Swindon, and we will ensure that we engage adults and communities of all backgrounds and make up in the work of LSAB

At the April event, the need to engage more with the community was seen as a priority for both the Children’s and the Adult’s Boards. So engaging with
the communities that need to be aware of the support offered by safeguarding teams and ensuring those who meet the criteria for safeguarding are
aware and know how to report concerns as they arise.

The voice of the person who is the subject of a safeguarding concern is also important and although some attempts have been made to address this,
feedback has not been forthcoming. A priority is to work with partners based in the Swindon Advice and Support Centre, particularly with Healthwatch, to
establish an effective feedback process and develop a forum that meets the needs and expectations of service users wishing to participate in the Board or
discuss areas of concern that can be fed back to the board.

Strategic Priority 4 - Workforce Development

We will ensure the workforce of all partner agencies has access to and has undergone robust training relevant to their role, and understand how to
apply it to their role

With the new structure of the Safeguarding Partnership there will be a joint Practice Development Group which will link the Children’s Safeguarding
Partnership with the LSAB. This will give the opportunity for shared training that may not have been available to Adult services in the past (e.g. safe
recruitment — although a similar course has been run in the past exclusively for managers of provider services).

The Training Strategy for safeguarding adults will need to be revised and updated to include multi-agency learning and develop opportunities that are
available or needs developing. As well as the current courses that include: (see over page)

Final
Page 57 of 62



0/ obed

Course Title &
Durations

Intended Audience

Basic Awareness % Day

All staff working in the Council, health services and in
the private/voluntary sector who are regularly in
contact with adults in need for care and support.

Foundation Course for Enquiry
Officers
1 Day

Any staff within adult services who will undertake
supporting role for section 42 enquiries. (Staff from
other agencies (e.g. GWH) may attend if they are to
fulfil the EO role)

Enquiry Manager Training 2 day

Key Staff within Adult Services who will act as Enquiry
Managers

Provider Managers Safeguarding
Training 1 day

Managers and senior staff from provider services —
course funded and administered by Care Skills
Partnership

Coercive Controlling Behaviour
and Domestic Abuse Half day

All staff within adult care teams (including mental
health), safeguarding and MCA/DOL team/

Mental Capacity into Practice 1
day

Adult Social Care Practitioners

The previous Training Strategy also referred to supplementary courses or sessions that need to be arranged to focus on specific areas. These include:
Female Genital Mutilation awareness; Domestic Abuse; Modern Slavery; Self-Neglect; Loan Shark (lllegal Money Lenders) Awareness; On-Line Safety;
Dangerous Drug Gangs; County Lines; Substance misuse; PREVENT (Prevention on radicalisation) ; Management of Risk; Sexual Exploitation; Hate Crime —
Mate Hate; Prevention; and Health Service Specific Issues. Often these sessions can be arranged with no cost, involving experts from specialist teams (e.g.
the Illegal money lending team for Loan Shark Awareness). The Sub-group will need to consider these and prioritise the subjects for delivery.

7. Financial information

In 2018/19, The Safeguarding Adult Board was funded in kind by Swindon Borough Council with a small contribution from Swindon Clinical Commissioning
Group and Wiltshire Police without the need for a separate budget for the partnership.
In 2019/20 the funding will transfer to the Swindon safeguarding partnership

Final
Page 58 of 62



T/, abed

8. Appendix 1 LSAB Attendance 2018/2019

Attendance Tracker

Chair

b.04

Meeting Dates
9.0

1

AWP

OiF

Care Providers

CQC (Annual Attendance)

Dorset & Wilts Fire Service

GWH

Healthwatch

LD Partnership Board

NHS England

Probation CRC

Oi0oirikrikLRiRLRIiO

OirRrIkPrIkPIOIOIO
OiI0OiIRiFPiIkF OI0OIFRriIOiF

OlR OiRiRILRICOiIkik

Probation NPS

SAM

South Western Ambulance Service

SBC - Cabinet Member Health & ASC

SBC - Coporate Director ASC

SBC - Head of Social Work

SBC - Public Health

SBC - Housing

SBC - Community Safegty Partnership

SBC - Heaad of Safeguarding

Swindon Carers Centre

Swindon CCG

Swindon CCG - Named GP for Safeguarding

Swindon CCG - Designated Nurse

Wiltshire Police

Total Actual Attendances

Total Possible Attendances
% Attendance

Final

RiRioOiRiRIRLRILOIRILRILRIRLRIOIO

RriricloirikrikRiolr OlRiILRIiOIL
RiRriRiRIRILIOIRILILRIOIRLRIOIK

Rk iO0OiRIRIRIRILRILRIL OIOIK

AR [N]IRIPIWIN|[P[WWW|IO|W[IOIOIN|WI|R|WIN|IO|R ||

B e e N N R N N N N R R N R N B N A B B L LA B R )

36%

31% 38%

38%

36%

Z Member

0% Delegate

0% No Membership

Page 59 of 62



Z/ abed

SWINDON SAFEGUARDING PARTNERSHIP: STRATEGIC PLAN

2019/2020

PURPOSE - The Swindon Safeguarding Partnership will support, enable and challenge each other to work together
to:
® Deliver our shared responsibility for the safeguarding of children, young people and adults at risk in the
Borough;
Provide effective and informed leadership to the local safeguarding system;
Promote positive working relationships with each other and children, adults and families;
Identify and act on learning
Provide assurance to the Swindon community

Through our BEHAVIOURS we will demonstrate:

< Accountability “+ Openness % Trust +* Innovation

<+ Commitment «» Respectfulness < Curiosity <

Collaboration

‘ AMBITIONS - The Partnership will act with intent and purpose to deliver measurable and meaningful improvements in outcomes for children and adults at risk. This means that the partnership will:

Create a stronger culture of
collective responsibility for
safeguarding children and adults

Act on learning so that the
partnership can continuously
improve its support for children and
adults at risk

Activate and empower the local
community to be safeguarding
partners

Increase the involvement of children
and adults in the work of the
partnership

Develop a confident and
knowledgeable workforce and use
their expertise to shape our work

Use our data to develop a shared
narrative about the safeguarding
needs of children and adults in
Swindon

The right decision is made at the right time for children & families
» Thresholds used effectively by partner agencies to identify risk and inform
timely decision making to keep children and adults safe
® MASH includes all key partners and services are effectively co-ordinated
across the partnership to promote cohesive & multi-agency working that
provides positive experiences for children and families
& FEffective information sharing processes in place I
# Effective leadership and management oversight in safeguarding practices A5
R Priority
to keep children safe s
» Services will be delivered as early as possible to meet emerging need and Groups
prevent needs escalating through early intervention & strength based
2N
Partnership

Qorking
Delivery

Safeguarding approach for adults with care and support needs is
Groups

CHILDREN, FAMILIES & ADULTS AT RISK

personalised and achieves meaningful improvement in circumstances
enabling them to live safe and well

« Improvements in the quality of referrals to cover all categories of abuse
leading to clear identification of safeguarding concerns and evidence of
consent at initial stage

# FEvidence that desired personal outcomes have been realised through
ongoing engagement with people about the outcomes they want with an
improved enquiry pathway

* A more co-ordinated and consistent multi-agency contribution to a
safeguarding adult front door

+ To meet the good practice standards and outcomes for adult protection set
Qut in the National Safeguarding Adults Framework /

/Reduce the number of children and adults with care and support needs being\
exploited
# Children and adults with care and support needs at risk of exploitation will be
helped to stay safe in their community.
e Children and adults with care and support needs affected by exploitation will
receive a high level of support and protection to keep them safe
# Perpetrators will be held accountable for their actions, and where possible

\ brought to justice. /

5
-

Practice
Review

COMMUNICATION & ENGAGEMENT

' (4
. Practice

Development

Safeguar

£ _
Policy &
Procedure

Performance \ -

Adults with care and support needs live in safety, free from self-neglect

Enhance practitioner knowledge of self-neglect and the legal framework
surrounding it

Develop fit for purpose risk tools and assessment skills to support strength based
recovery-led approach to working and ensures consistency in decision making
Practitioners are pro-active, build a positive relationship with individuals who self-
neglect and adopt an investigative approach

Multidisciplinary working is embedded with each organisation taking
responsibility for their role in supporting the adult to address issues caused
through self-neglect

N

Swindon

2 -4 Children live in safety, free from neglect
Partnership
» Development of skilled & professionally curious workforce through the provision

of high quality multi-agency training and tools for children’s services with the roll
out of the Graded Care Profile across the partnership

» Improved recognition of neglect with better understanding of pathways into
targeted services as part of the agreed multi-agency response to neglect

* Mechanisms to provide oversight and understanding of the prevalence of neglect
for children and to understand the effectiveness of the multi-agency response.

/ Improve quality of practice & ensure children/young people and vulnerable \

adults are at the centre of decisions which relate to their life

+ We listen to children, young people, families and adults with care and support
needs and ensure their voices are heard

# Escalation is used effectively to resolve professional disagreements or concerns

# Information is shared in a timely manner

‘Think family” and ‘Think holistically’ is promoted across the partnership to

remave silo working between practitioners and services.

Effective supervision and management oversight leading to better outcomes for

children and adults with care and support needs at risk.

# Practitioners are professionally curious when working with children and adults
with care and support needs at risk and respond to their lived experiences. /

INIWIOVON3 3 NOLLVIINNWINOD

& Quality
Assurance .

P

WIDER COMMUNITY

~
Links to Other Partnerships
Domestic Abuse (Community Safety Partnership) Looked after Children (Corporate Parenting Board) Early Help, transitions, Emotional health and wellbeing (Children’s Strategic Partnership) Special
Educational Needs/Disability (SEND Board) Child exploitation will be a shared priority between children’s partnership and children’s safeguarding arrangements
S

Page 60 of 62

ALINNIWINOD ¥3aIm

YINOILILIVYd

ASIY 1Y S1INAY '3 SININY4 ‘NIYATIHD




Appendix 3: Glossary

ADASS Association of Directors of Adult Social Services
BANES Bath and North East Somerset

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group

CID Criminal Investigation Department

CPB Children Partnership Board

CPS Crime Prosecution Service

CPT Community Policing Team

CsP Community Safety Partnership

CSTF Core Skills Training Framework

CcQC Care Quality Commission

DolS Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards

DSL Designated Safeguarding Lead

GP General Practitioner

GWH Great Western Hospital

GMC General Medical Council

LD Learning Disability

LiPS/LPS Liberty Protection Safeguard

LSAB Local Safeguarding Adults Board

MARAC Multi-agency Risk Assessment Conference
MASH Multi-agency Safeguarding Hub

MCA Mental Capacity Act

MHA Mental Health Act

MSP Making Safeguarding Personal

NHS National Health Service

NICE National Institute For Health and Clinical Excellence
Ql Quality Improvement

REP Risk Enablement Panel

SAB Safeguarding Adult Board

SAIT Safeguarding Adult Investigation Team
SAM Swindon Advocacy Movement

SAR Safeguarding Adult Review

SARC Swindon & Wiltshire Sexual Assault Referral Centre

Page 73




SBC Swindon Borough Council

ScC Swindon Carers Centre

SCIE Social Care Institute for Excellence

STP Sustainability Transformation Partnership
SwiCC Swindon Intermediate Care Centre

WAAF Ward Accreditation Achievement Framework

The Safeguarding Adults in Swindon Annual Report 2018/19 is available on the Internet
on SBC Adult Safequarding page

It may be produced in a range of languages and formats (such as large print, Braille or

other accessible formats) by contacting the Customer Services Department.

Tel: 01793 445500

E-mail: customerservices@swindon.gov.uk

FOI 3794 /18

Final

Page 74

Page 62 of 62


https://www.swindon.gov.uk/info/20011/adult_social_care_and_support/763/swindon_local_safeguarding_adults_board/4
mailto:customerservices@swindon.gov.uk

Agenda Item 6

2020 Homelessness Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
Health and Wellbeing Board Date: 11" December 2019

Author: Director of Public Health
Wards: All
Parishes Affected: All

1. Purpose and Reasons
1.1 A Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) helps us to understand:

¢ What we know about the current health and wellbeing needs of local people
e How their needs are currently being met

¢ What we think their future needs are likely to be; and

e How their needs can be best met in the future.

1.1 Thisis the first Homelessness JSNA in Swindon, and systematically assesses
need around homelessness in Swindon in 2020. The main aim for this JSNA is to
form the basis for the Homelessness Strategy, which is currently under
development.

1.2  Objectives of the 2020 Homelessness JSNA are:

e To provide an up-to-date epidemiological overview of homelessness in the
Swindon population

e To provide a baseline of what data is available to assess the need in
Swindon, highlighting subgroups of interest, where there is unmet need, or
a need for better data.

e To assess support service provision for children and adults and identify
gaps in provision

e To present information gained from engagement with homeless support
service users and providers

¢ To identify effective interventions for homelessness from the literature

e To make recommendations for service provision to inform the
commissioning process

e To facilitate effective working relationships between stakeholders

e To take an asset-based approach to homelessness, and make
recommendations that are relevant to the needs of this group

2. Recommendations

The Board is recommended to:

2.1  Note the report and approve the recommendations made in the 2020
Homelessness JSNA. These are set out in paragraphs 3.11 — 3.35 of this report.

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Kathryn Hamilton,
khamilton@swindon.gov.uk.

Page 75



2020 Homelessness Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

Health and Wellbeing Board Date: 11" December 2019
3. Detail
3.1  The main aim of this JSNA is to inform the Homelessness Strategy which is

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

currently underway. The JSNA Bulletin is found in Appendix one, and the full
report will be published on Swindon’s JSNA website:
https://www.swindonjsna.co.uk/dna

Key Messages:

Homelessness means not having a home. A home is a place that provides
security, and links to a community and support network. It needs to be decent
and affordable. Under the law, even if someone has a roof over their head they
can still be homeless. This is because they may not have the right to stay where
they live or their home may be unsuitable to live in.

New legislation, the Homeless Reduction Act (2017) means everyone is entitled
to support from local authorities if they are at risk of, or experiencing,
homelessness. It also means other public services must refer people at risk of
homelessness to local authorities, called the Duty to Refer.

The rough sleeper counts in Swindon show rates of rough sleeping rose from
2010 to 2017, and are subsequently reducing, within the margins of error. The
rough sleeping rate for Swindon is 3.8 per 10,000 households. 90% are males,
and 15% are non-UK nationals.

It is challenging to accurately estimate numbers of people who are at risk of, or
experiencing, homelessness. National research shows that for every 2 people
rough sleeping, there are an estimated 98 who are in shelters, temporary
accommodation, bed and breakfasts or other precarious accommodation. So the
numbers of homeless individuals in Swindon could be far greater.

The following groups are of particular focus in the JSNA, as the evidence shows
they are more at risk of homelessness, or the complications of experiencing
homelessness:

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Kathryn Hamilton,
khamilton@swindon.gov.uk.

Page 76


https://www.swindonjsna.co.uk/dna

2020 Homelessness Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

Health and Wellbeing Board Date: 11" December 2019

3.7

3.8

3.9

3.10

e Single adults

e Children and young people

e Care leavers

e People with mental health problems

e People with experience of substance misuse

e Victims of domestic abuse

e People with offending histories

e Asylum seekers, refugees and former asylum seekers
e People with previous experience of homelessness

e Sex workers

e LGBT+ individuals

e People with learning disabilities or difficulties

e People from black and minority ethnic (BME) communities
e Veterans of the Armed Forces

There are examples of good practice in Swindon, directly or indirectly related to

homelessness. This includes the Housing First programme, the outreach sexual
health clinic, partnership working through the Homeless and Healthcare network
and the Rough Sleeper panel, and provision of mental health training to frontline
homeless support workers.

Discussions with local people with experience of homelessness revealed a
multitude of reasons for homelessness. Themes of the engagement work
included repeated management of crises, and a requirement for strong support
that considered an individual’s multiple needs.

This JSNA makes 22 recommendations which are contained in the bulletin, with
an additional 13 for specific groups in the full report. Recommendations are
applicable to specific homelessness support services, and those in wider work
around homelessness. There are many positive interventions and examples of
partnership work around homelessness in Swindon. The recommendations aim
to build on our strengths, and highlight any gaps.

The report and recommendations are based on local and national
epidemiological and service data, a review of the published evidence-base, and
national and local strategic priorities. The information from these sources was
combined with the views of local people with experience of homelessness, and
those working in frontline homelessness support services.

Recommendations from the 2020 Homelessness JSNA:

Overarching recommendations

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Kathryn Hamilton,
khamilton@swindon.gov.uk.

Page 77



2020 Homelessness Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
Health and Wellbeing Board Date: 11" December 2019

3.11 To build the local strategic approach to homelessness, informed by the findings
of this JSNA, and to continue developing the Swindon Homelessness Strategy.

3.12 To ensure an ongoing upstream approach to homelessness, with a focus on
prevention.

3.13 To ensure that assistance for those finding themselves homeless or at risk of
homelessness is quick, practical and tailored to individual needs.

3.14 To recognise that reducing homelessness requires inter-organisation
collaboration and a shared commitment, particularly for vulnerable groups such
as victims of domestic abuse, care leavers, refugees and asylum seekers and
sex workers.

3.15 Homelessness can be linked with mental health and substance misuse issues.
To support people with complex needs we should continue to build links between
these services to enable effective referrals and interventions.

3.16 To ensure that local data is available to understand the local homelessness
profile, and future demand. Providers of support services should use this data to
gain a better understanding of the needs of the wide variety of groups
experiencing homelessness, the impact of the Homelessness Reduction Act
(2017) and the Duty to Refer.

Prevention

3.17 SBC should consider work to improve access to information, including digital
solutions, so that people in Swindon are aware of the services and support
available around homelessness, and that engagement with services occurs
before crisis point. This might include how to access the council, and work to
destigmatise seeking housing support.

3.18 SBC and providers of homeless support services should monitor locally the
impact of legislative and benefits changes, including Universal Credit, and
anticipate the impact of such changes upon support services.

3.19 All people working across public services need to be versed in homelessness,
the legislation, and why homelessness is important. Training should also be
given in trauma-informed support and awareness of mental health issues and
services. The PHE resource for homelessness could be a useful training tool
(PHE, 2019)

3.20 SBC will continue to work with private landlords to maintain stable tenancies
where possible, and continue to review how to sustainably maintain SBC housing
stock.

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Kathryn Hamilton,
khamilton@swindon.gov.uk.

Page 78



2020 Homelessness Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
Health and Wellbeing Board Date: 11" December 2019

3.21 To ensure a continued focus on improving the supply and access to affordable
housing that will provide solutions to meet diverse housing needs across the
Borough and avoid emergency housing placement.

Intervention

3.22 Rapid intervention is needed for those experiencing rough sleeping,
encompassing a No Second Night Out objective. This should build on existing
provision.

3.23 Homeless people may require identity documents and a registered address to
access welfare support, education, employment and training. SBC and support
services should support with these needs, and provide a registered address
where required.

3.24 Personal support workers, such as the Personal Advisors for Care Leavers, or
the Housing First Support workers are examples of good practice. This model
could be expanded for other vulnerable groups, including individuals with
complex needs.

3.25 Lived experiences of homelessness differ widely, and homelessness support
services must work to understand the needs of the individual beyond housing, as
seen in the jigsaw of needs. Individuals’ goals and progress should be monitored
using objective tools like the outcomes star.

3.26 Points of contact with homeless people are an opportunity for intervention to
reduce the risk of repeated homelessness. A Making Every Contact Count
(MECC) approach may be beneficial as these individuals may need multiple
offers of engagement. MECC could be used to address mental and physical
health proactively, alongside social and housing needs.

Collaboration

3.27 Pathways for referrals between services and organisations (including the Duty to
Refer) need to be efficient, effective and monitored.

3.28 Inter-organisation collaboration through panels such as the Multi-Agency Risk
Assessment Committee, the Rough Sleeper Panel, or the Young Person Housing
Panel represent examples of good practice. This model could be expanded to
other areas supporting vulnerable or complex individuals.

3.29 SBC and other organisations, including the voluntary sector, should consider how
best to support those with No Recourse To Public Funds, and to build referral
pathways with The Harbour Project to assess housing needs for asylum seekers
and refugees.

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Kathryn Hamilton,
khamilton@swindon.gov.uk.

Page 79



2020 Homelessness Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
Health and Wellbeing Board Date: 11" December 2019

Innovation

3.30 Novel programmes should be considered including community donations to
homelessness charities as an alternative to begging, social impact bonds and
expanding Swindon’s social enterprise schemes.

3.31 People with lived experience of homelessness can provide valuable support to
others. Opportunities for self-development should be part of support services,
and lead to employment and training where possible, including the use of social
enterprise. There could be a programme to develop peer supporters, and
homelessness champions in decision-making about homelessness services.

3.32 The impact of the sexual health outreach model of health care should be
evaluated, and considered for expansion to reach the wider homeless population
by commissioners.

Additional specific recommendations (found in the full JSNA report):

3.33 Mental health, Substance Misuse and Homelessness: including considering
the role of specialist mental health workers within homelessness, and Community
Mental Health Team (CMHT) outreach into homeless settings.

3.34 Offenders and those being released from prison: to improve the support and
pathways for those being released from prison to the Swindon area, with a
particular focus on those with a history of multiple offences.

3.35 Healthcare and homelessness: including ensuring national homeless
healthcare standards are met in the mainstream services, piloting homeless
health checks and lifestyle interventions, and consideration of a specialist
service.

4, Alternative Options

4.1  No alternative options are proposed

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Kathryn Hamilton,
khamilton@swindon.gov.uk.

Page 80



2020 Homelessness Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
Health and Wellbeing Board Date: 11" December 2019

5. Implications, Diversity Impact Assessment and Risk Management

Financial and Procurement Implications

5.1  There are no direct financial implications from the 2019 Homelessness JSNA at
this stage. Recommendations from the JSNA will be considered as part of the
development of a Homelessness Strategy which will include an assessment of
the financial implications and cost effectiveness of any actions taken forward.

Legal and Human Rights Implications

5.2 Legal and Human rights have been taken fully into account in compiling this
report. It is considered that the recommendations within this report are
compatible with Convention Rights.

All Other Implications (including Staff, Sustainability, Health, Rural, Crime and
Disorder)

5.3 There are no other implications arising from this report.

Diversity Impact Assessment

5.4  Adiversity impact assessment has not been completed for this report at this
stage.

Risk Management

5.5 No specific risks are identified at this stage of the report.
6. Consultees

6.1 The Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer) and the Director of Law and
Democratic Services (Monitoring Officer) are consulted in respect of all reports.

7. Background Papers

7.1 None

8. Appendices

8.1 Appendix One — 2019 Homelessness JSNA Bulletin

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Kathryn Hamilton,
khamilton@swindon.gov.uk.

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



3
Py

Key Points:

Homelessness is complex, multi-faceted and causes poor outcomes for individuals and society.
We cannot be certain of the numbers affected in Swindon, but it is likely that rough sleeping
(and potentially the hidden homeless), have increased from 2010-2017, consistent with the
national picture.

The 2018 rough sleeping rate for Swindon has reduced since 2017 to 3.8 per 10,000
households. From Apr—Dec 2018 291 households were accepted as homeless or at risk of
homelessness with Swindon Borough Council.

Factors are identified that drive homelessness, as well as resulting from being homeless. This
includes substance misuse, poor mental or physical health, and time in prison. However, there
is no single story behind homelessness.

A continued focus on prevention of homelessness is needed, alongside rapid intervention.
There are examples of good practice and partnership working in Swindon. Some could be
replicated or expanded to support other vulnerable groups.

Themes for successful interventions include co-ordination and collaboration between services,
outreach, and intensive support that considers the multiple needs of an individual or family.
For vulnerable groups including victims of domestic abuse, asylum seekers and refugees, and
sex workers support should address multiple needs, including housing.

22 recommendations are contained in the bulletin, with an additional 13 for specific groups in
the full report. These build on our strengths and highlight any gaps. They are based on local
data, the evidence-base and national and local strategic priorities.

What is a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA)?

A JSNA helps us to understand: We want to understand Swindon’s changing
e What we know about the current health population, what is going on in Swindon and
o How their needs are currently being met and wellbeing so that we can plan for the

What we think their future needs are likely
to be; and
How their needs can be best met in the

future. The Swindon Health and Wellbeing
Board oversees the development of JSNA’s
and any resulting recommendations.

future.

Page | 1
Page 83




Introduction

Homelessness means not having a home. A
home is a place that provides security, and
links to a community and support network. It
needs to be decent and affordable. Under
the law, even if someone has a roof over
their head they can still be homeless. This is
because they may not have the right to stay
where they live or their home may be
unsuitable to live in.

Reasons people become homeless are
complicated and involve societal structures
(such as benefits changes, the economy,
access to jobs and low cost housing),
changing circumstances (such as
relationship breakdown or leaving an
institution), as well as personal factors (such
as mental health issues, age, and substance
misuse).

Trends in reducing housing affordability and
housing benefit claimants in Swindon,
alongside continued population growth are
consistent with the picture for England.

Homelessness is associated with poor
outcomes for the individual and for society. It
is a pressing issue nationally, with a 28%
increase in the numbers of homeless people
in England documented between 2011 and
2016.

The government has a Rough Sleeping
Strategy which sets out a vision to halve
rough sleeping by 2022, and end it by 2027.
New legislation, the Homeless Reduction Act
(2017) means everyone is entitled to support
from local authorities if they are at risk of, or
experiencing, homelessness. It also means
other public services must refer people at
risk of homelessness to local authorities,
called the Duty to Refer.

Population - who is affected?

It is challenging to accurately estimate
numbers of people who are at risk of, or
experiencing, homelessness. Much is
hidden, especially considering those
squatting, sleeping in unsuitable temporary
accommodation, or sofa surfing.

The rough sleeper counts in Swindon show
rates rose from 2010 to 2017, and are
subsequently reducing, within the margins
of error. The rough sleeping rate for
Swindon is 3.8 per 10,000 households. 90%
are males, and 15% are non-UK nationals.

National research shows that for every 2
people rough sleeping, there are an
estimated 98 who are in shelters, temporary
accommodation, bed and breakfasts or
other precarious accommodation. So rough
sleeper counts likely represent the minority
of people experiencing homelessness in
Swindon.

Statutory homelessness means those who
have approached the council and been
accepted into a duty due to being at risk of,
or experiencing, homelessness. In the first 6
months since the new legislation was
introduced in 2018, in Swindon 527
households were assessed, and 291 (55%)
were accepted into a duty. Of these, 80
were threatened with homelessness, and
211 were homeless.

The most common reasons for statutory
homelessness in Swindon in 2018 were
family and friends no longer willing or able
to accommodate, non-violent relationship
breakdown, loss of rental accommodation
and violence.

70% of households in temporary
accommodation in 2018 in Swindon
included children. The great majority were in
private rental or local authority/housing
association stock, minimising the number
required to stay in B&B or hostel/refuge type
accommodation.

Page 84

Page | 2



Inequalities

The following groups are of particular focus in
the JSNA, as the evidence shows they are
more at risk of homelessness, or the
complications of experiencing homelessness:

Single adults

Children and young people

Care leavers

People with mental health problems

People with experience of substance

misuse

Victims of domestic abuse

e People with offending histories

e Asylum seekers, refugees and former
asylum seekers

e People with previous experience of
homelessness

e Sex workers

e LGBT+ individuals

e People with learning disabilities or
difficulties

e People from black and minority ethnic
(BME) communities

e Veterans of the Armed Forces

Some of these factors are not well-
recorded in our current data systems, and
some groups such as veterans of the
armed forces are only present in very small
numbers in Swindon’s homeless
population. Data collection is an area for
development so we can understand more
fully the local profile of homelessness, as
well as making sure our services meet the
needs of the local people.

Multiple different services co-ordinate well
to support some of these groups, such as
victims of domestic abuse, and care
leavers. This is reflected in the finding that
over 90% of Swindon’s care leavers were
in suitable accommodation in 2018/19,
higher than England averages. Other
groups, including asylum seekers, and
those with experience of the prison system,
would benefit from closer partnership
working between the council and relevant
partner organisations, and clearer referral
pathways to housing support.

Page 85

Page | 3



Mental health

In England, up to 80% of people with
experience of homelessness report some
form of mental health issue and suicide was
the second most common cause of death in
people who were homeless in 2017.

In Swindon:

e Threshold found the proportions of
homeless people self-reporting
depression, anxiety, post-traumatic stress,
personality disorder, and schizophrenia in
the Health Survey were higher than
general population levels, in all cases.

e Poisoning and psychiatric conditions
account for over 30% of attendances for
homeless individuals at the Great Western
Hospital (GWH) A&E.

Mental health service provision for people
with experience of homelessness has been
identified as an area of unmet need.

To address this unmet need, all housing
officers who work with homeless people
have been offered mental health training,
and work is ongoing to identify how best to
provide specialist care in this area.

Substance misuse

In England, substance misuse is common
across the spectrum of homelessness and
poisoning caused over half of all deaths in
homeless people in 2017.

In Swindon:

e 4.5% of households accepted into a
homelessness duty with the council
reported drug dependency, and 6.5%
reported alcohol dependency, however
national literature and the Threshold
survey of homeless people suggests rates
of substance misuse are likely to be
higher than this.

e Since 2014/15 the proportion of new adult
clients needing treatment for substance
misuse with a housing problem has been
rising, to 24% in 2017/18.

e There is a trend for more people in
substance misuse treatment to be recorded
as having an “urgent” housing issue’.

e The majority of clients to substance misuse
services with a housing problem are opiate
users.

e Young people with substance misuse
issues are seen and treated in much
smaller numbers. Very small numbers were
identified as having housing problems,
more common were other social
vulnerabilities that are recognised risk
factors for homelessness later in life.

Turning Point (the adult substance misuse
service) has a dedicated housing worker,
however this service only supports the
minority of people with substance misuse and
housing issues.

Overall, substance misuse needs strong
partnership working between substance
misuse services and other support services,
and this is a continued focus for those working
in Swindon

Offenders and prison releases

There are complex links between
homelessness and offending. Homelessness
can also be associated with a number of
illegal activities, including the risk of being
recruited by County Lines offenders.
Effectively supporting and rehabilitating
offenders improves individual outcomes, and
has wider benefits for society.

From April — June 2018, about 1 in 10 people
in the South West who were accepted as
being at risk of, or experiencing homelessness
with a local authority, have an offending
history.

In Swindon:

e Most prison releases to the Swindon area
are from HMP Bullingdon and HMP
Eastwood Park.

Page 86

Page | 4



e 45% of prisoners being released May
2018 — April 2019 who had been
sentenced more than 10 times came out
of prison to settled accommodation,
compared to 83% of those sentenced
up to 10 times. This paints a picture of a
revolving door between prison and
homelessness.

Additional resources have recently been
allocated to the community rehabilitation
company to build on the support pathways
for those being released from prison to the
Swindon area. This is in line with the
national Through the Gates strategy.

Complex needs

Complex needs means:
“When poor mental health,
substance misuse and significant
social issues such as
homelessness or time in prison
coincide”

In Swindon:

e 26% of substance misuse service clients
have a mental health issue. The exact
numbers of people who would fit the
definition of complex needs is not
known.

e Those working frontline in homeless
support services describe the challenges
of engaging with people with complex
needs. Intensive support is often
needed, for prolonged periods.

Health Inequalities

In England the average age of death for
homeless men is 47 years, and for women
is 43 years. This compares to 77 years for
the general population.

National research shows homeless people
are more likely than the general population
to die from: alcohol, drugs, suicide, HIV and
hepatitis, lung conditions, heart attacks and
falls. It is difficult to maintain a healthy
lifestyle whilst homeless, and mainstream
health services can struggle to meet the
needs of this population.

In Swindon:

e Threshold found that 38% of homeless
people who responded to the Health
Survey reported physical conditions that
were not adequately treated, and low
proportions reported accessing
preventative care including screening tests
and vaccinations.

What services do people use?

NHS and social care

Nationally, the annual costs of unscheduled
healthcare for homeless patients is eight
times that of the housed population. This is
due to disconnected points of crisis
management, and the use of A&E as
emergency accommodation.

In Swindon:

e In 2018, 128 homeless people presented to
Great Western Hospital (GWH) A&E,
meaning homeless people are likely high
users of acute services.

e Most admissions of homeless people to
GWH were for less than 2 nights, and the
destination of these individuals on
discharge is generally unknown.

e 35% of homeless people attending A&E in
2018 were registered at the Carfax Medical
Centre, with 25% having no known GP. At
the end of 2018/19 the Carfax Medical
Centre had 65 individuals registered with
them who self-identified as homeless. This
means approximately 120 homeless people
are likely either registered at other
practices or are unregistered.

e The Sexual Health outreach model of care
Is an example of good practice.

e More work is needed to understand what
model of community healthcare would best
meet the needs of the Swindon homeless
population.

Page 87
Page | 5



The following aspects of community care
require specialist consideration for homeless
people:

e Dental care

e Health improvement (smoking cessation
and screening)

e Sexual health

e End of life care

¢ Infectious diseases

e Wound care

e Mental health

Healthcare for people with experience of
homelessness is an area for development,
along with referral pathways between GWH and
housing.

Other services and community assets

Accommodation-based support and floating
support is commissioned by Swindon Borough
Council (SBC), including supported housing for
a range of needs.

SBC spends just under £1.4m per year on
supported housing schemes for the single
homeless. This is mainly Direct Access hostels,
as well as move on accommodation.

There is a gap in provision for emergency
accommodation locally, with Booth House often
only available for 3 nights, and Bed and
Breakfasts representing a costly temporary
option.

SBC has worked with the Government’s Rough
Sleeping Initiative and its delivery partners to
co-produce a range of funded interventions to
meet the needs of rough sleepers in the area.

¢ A dedicated rough sleeping project co-
ordinator

e Temporary Winter Housing Provision
between January — March 2019

e 3 rough sleeping Housing First workers

Page 88

e 12 units of supported Housing First
accommodation.

e Specialist mental health training for
frontline staff

e Additional floating support to prevent loss
of tenancies in the private rented sector

e Establish a Day Centre ‘one stop shop’ to
co-ordinate and integrate services in one
location

There are a many other homeless support
services in Swindon. These provide
accommodation-based support, food and
provisions, outreach support, and support to
engage with SBC and other services such
as mental health and substance misuse.
Work is ongoing to better co-ordinate the
efforts of the different organisations.

What do local people think?

We interviewed 20 people with experience
of homelessness (including rough sleeping,
living in supported accommodation and
Housing First) to better understand the
iIssues facing homeless people in Swindon.

Key points were:

e Homelessness is not a single story, and
there are many reasons behind it.
Anyone can be at risk of homelessness if
their personal or social circumstances
deteriorate. Descriptions of time in
prison, poor mental and physical health,
and substance misuse were common,
but not universal.

e Most people approach the council for
support at crisis point. Barriers to
approaching the council earlier included
the stigma attached to homelessness,
and a lack of awareness of council
services.

e Journeys through homelessness are
complex, often involving cycling between
rough sleeping and temporary or
emergency accommaodation.

Page | 6



e Rough sleeping is difficult and dangerous for
a person’s mental and physical health.

e Positive experiences that helped resolve
homelessness included support workers,
addressing mental health and/or substance
misuse issues, and social support networks.

e Long term goals for homeless people
centred on wanting stability in
accommodation, employment, relationships
and their physical health.

Overarching recommendations

There are many positive interventions and
examples of partnership work around
homelessness in Swindon. The
recommendations aim to build on our
strengths, and highlight any gaps.

e To build the local strategic approach to
homelessness, a Swindon Homelessness
Strategy is being developed, informed by the
findings of this JSNA.

e To ensure an ongoing upstream approach to
homelessness, with a focus on prevention.

e To ensure that assistance for those finding
themselves homeless or at risk of
homelessness is quick, practical and tailored
to individual needs.

e To recognise that reducing homelessness
requires ongoing inter-organisation
collaboration and a shared commitment,
particularly for vulnerable groups such as
victims of domestic abuse, care leavers,
refugees and asylum seekers and sex
workers.

e Homelessness can be linked with mental
health and substance misuse issues. To
support people with complex needs we
should continue to build links between these
services to enable effective referrals and
interventions.

e To ensure that local data is available to
understand the local homelessness profile,
and future demand. Providers of support
services should use this data to gain a better
understanding of the needs of the wide
variety of groups experiencing
homelessness, the impact of the
Homelessness Reduction Act (2017) and the
Duty to Refer.

Page 89

Further recommendations

Prevention

e SBC should consider work to improve
access to information, including digital
solutions, so that people in Swindon are
aware of the services and support
available around homelessness, and that
engagement with services occurs before
crisis point. This might include how to
access the council, and work to
destigmatise seeking housing support.

e SBC and providers of homeless support
services should monitor locally the impact
of legislative and benefits changes,
including Universal Credit, and anticipate
the impact of such changes upon support
services

¢ All people working across public services
need to be versed in homelessness, the
legislation, and why homelessness is
important. Training should also be given in
trauma-informed support and awareness
of mental health issues and services. The
PHE resource for homelessness could be
a useful training tool (PHE, 2019)

e SBC will continue to work with private
landlords to maintain stable tenancies
where possible, and continue to review
how to sustainably maintain SBC housing
stock.

e To ensure a continued focus on improving
the supply and access to affordable
housing that will provide solutions to meet
diverse housing needs across the
Borough and avoid emergency housing
placement.

Intervention

¢ Rapid intervention is needed for those
experiencing rough sleeping,
encompassing a No Second Night Out
objective. This should build on existing
provision.

e Homeless people may require identity
documents and a registered address to
access welfare support, education,
employment and training. SBC and
support services should consider these
needs, and provide a registered address
where required.

Page | 7



e Personal support workers, such as the

Personal Advisors for Care Leavers, or the
Housing First Support workers are
examples of good practice. This model
could be expanded for other vulnerable
groups, including individuals with complex
needs.

Lived experiences of homelessness differ
widely, and homelessness support
services must work to understand the
needs of the individual beyond housing, as
seen in the jigsaw of needs. Individuals’
goals and progress should be monitored
using objective tools like the outcomes
star.

Points of contact with homeless people are
an opportunity for intervention to reduce
the risk of repeated homelessness. A
Making Every Contact Count (MECC)
approach may be beneficial as these
individuals may need multiple offers of
engagement. MECC could be used to
address mental and physical health
proactively, alongside social and housing
needs.

Collaboration

e Pathways for referrals between services

and organisations (including the Duty to
Refer) need to be efficient, effective and
monitored.

Inter-organisation collaboration through
panels such as the Multi-Agency Risk
Assessment Committee, the Rough
Sleeper Panel, or the Young Person
Housing Panel represent examples of
good practice. This model could be
expanded to other areas supporting
vulnerable or complex individuals.

SBC and other organisations, including the
voluntary sector, should consider how best
to support those with No Recourse To
Public Funds, and to build referral
pathways with The Harbour Project to
assess housing needs for asylum seekers
and refugees.

Page 90

Innovation

¢ Novel programmes should be considered
including community donations to
homelessness charities as an alternative
to begging, social impact bonds and
expanding Swindon’s social enterprise
schemes.

e People with lived experience of
homelessness can provide valuable
support to others. Opportunities for self-
development should be part of support
services, and lead to employment and
training where possible, including the
use of social enterprise. There could be
a programme to develop peer
supporters, and homelessness
champions in decision-making about
homelessness services.

e The impact of the sexual health outreach
model of health care should be
evaluated, and considered for expansion
to reach the wider homeless population
by commissioners.

In addition the JSNA includes specific
recommendations focusing on:

eMental health, Substance Misuse and
Homelessness: including considering the
role of specialist mental health workers
within homelessness, and Community
Mental Health Team (CMHT) outreach
into homeless settings.

oOffenders and those being released from
prison: to improve the support and
pathways for those being released from
prison to the Swindon area, with a
particular focus on those with a history of
multiple offences.

eHealthcare and homelessness: including
ensuring national homeless healthcare
standards are met in the mainstream
services, piloting homeless health checks
and lifestyle interventions, and
consideration of a specialist service.

This bulletin was published in December
2019. Please contact
phteam@swindon.gov.uk with any queries
or for further information

Page | 8


mailto:phteam@swindon.gov.uk

Agenda ltem 9
JCG Minutes — 29" October 2019

Present: Apologies:

Sue Wald (Chair) SBC Stephen Clinch SBC
Phillipa Lamb SBC David Haley SBC
Jackie Walker SBC Mike Ash SBC
Claire Smith (part) SBC Matthew Hawkins CCG
Lee-Anne Farach SBC Nicki Millin CCG
Tammy Reeve SBC Dawn Sexstone SBC
Angela Plummer SBC

Gill May CCG

Ayoola Oyinloye SBC

Welcome & Apologies: as noted above.

Declaration of Interests: none noted.

Minutes of meeting held on 24™ September 2019
e Agree Minutes: agreed

e Matters Arising: action tracker updated

Finance 2019/ 20

SBC & CCG financial update — Jackie Walker

A new approach to budget monitoring has been developed and JW presented the following
key points.

* Overspends of £1.8m. This reflects overspends of £1.3m on CCG aligned
services, £0.6m on SBC aligned services and savings of £0.1m on Public
Health. The overspends will sit with the respective commissioner in 2019-20

» Overspends on CCG services are due mainly to mental health placements
and CHC. The latter is largely due to one placement.

» Overspends on SBC services are due to a mixture of demand pressures
£0.3m and challenges in delivering its savings plan in full £0.3m.

« There have been some revisions to BCF following guidance issued by
DHSC, inflationary uplifts being uplifted by min of 5.3%

» Risk is being monitored in shadow form in 2019-20. The principles around
risk sharing arrangements are currently being considered.

» Under current principles £1.6m of the £1.8m pressure would be included in
risk share arrangement.

Action: JW to ask SC/ MH to consult with JCG members and provide scenarios to
demonstrate how risks will be shared for pooled budgets based on individual
agency’s financial contributions and demand pressures.

It was noted that presenting activity alongside financial information had enabled JCG
members to interrogate activity and performance and gain greater insight into demand,

Page 91




performance and cost pressures.

Zero-based budgeting - share learning from the zero-based budget activity in Children’s
Services — Lee-Anne Farach

LAF presented the zero based budget approach she had led in Children’s Services. Staff
had engaged and found the exercise useful as it had provided open challenge, encouraged
fresh ideas but service managers had remained in control at all stages of the process. LAF
agreed to support and share the zero based budget exercise with colleagues from Adult
Social Care.

Action: AP /JW to organise a meeting with Heads of Service in ASC and public health
for LAF to facilitate a zero-based budget exercise.

Better Care Fund — Sue Wald

The BCF Plan metrics were shared with the members of JCG. The Swindon BCF Plan for
2019/20 has been approved by the Region and with NHSE for final sign off. The plan is
uploaded on the website http://www.swindonjsna.co.uk/strateqy/Better-Care-Fund.

CCG - additional winter pressure funding — Sue Wald

JGC were presented with the potential additional winter pressures funding from CCG for
19/20 and JW advised that surplus money from last year has been ring fenced for cost
pressures this year.

Action: JW to inform GM of total budget available for managing winter pressures for
2019/20.

System design groups — Sue Wald

SW advised that the new governance arrangements had been agreed by council and will be
presented to CCG and Health and Wellbeing Board for final approval. The revised Section
75 will be governed through H&O Scrutiny and H&W Board. The future model for the System
Design Groups was discussed as to whether they should be by client need or age
categories.

Action: SW to investigate how other STP areas are managing System Design Groups
and to ensure our approach reflects the long term plan and corporate priorities.

CCG / SBC governance arrangements — Sue Wald

https://ww5.swindon.gov.uk/moderngov/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=285&MId=9831&Ver=4

NHS long term plan /5 year operational plan — Gill May

GM presented an overview of the emerging Long Term Plan. There will be a single CCG
across the STP footprint from April 2020 and recruitment is underway. The aim is to embed
a place based delivery model based on strength based working. Workstreams for
implementing the plan include Learning Pa§#bRiy and Autism, Prevention, Mental Health,



http://www.swindonjsna.co.uk/strategy/Better-Care-Fund
https://ww5.swindon.gov.uk/moderngov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=9831&Ver=4

Ageing Well and Primary Care Networks.

Action: AP to add Long Term Plan to SMT agenda for discussion on 31/10/19 (placed
based conversations).

10.

Gateway paper - (PAD) Bereavement Support — Claire Smith

Swindon & District Cruse Bereavement Care have been awarded the contract for
bereavement support in Swindon. This contract has been extended to include supporting
young children and suicide.

11.

Any other business — none noted.

Next meeting: Tuesday 26" November at 2pm till 4pm in CR2, Civic

Page 93




This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 Local Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018/19
	LSAB Annual Report 18-19 Final

	6 2020 Homelessness Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
	2019 Homelessness JSNA Bulletin

	9 Joint Commissioning Group - Minutes for Information and Comment

